Changes in the biomechanical properties of the bone during implant placement

Ph.D. Thesis

Ádám László Nagy, D.M.D.

Supervisor: Zoltán Lajos Baráth., Ph.D., Habil. Prof.

> Department of Periodontology Faculty of Dentistry University of Szeged



Szeged 2023

CONTENTS

I. PUBLICATIONS	
II. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	5
III. INTRODUCTION	6
A. Edentulism	6
B. Implant placement, osseointegration	9
C. Fracture of the atrophic mandible related to dental implants	
D. Immediate loading, the All-on-Four TM treatment concept	
E. Basic physical concepts, stresses	
IV. AIMS OF THE STUDY	
V. MATERIALS AND METHODS	19
1. A. Bone material	19
1. B. Measurement groups, drilling and implant placement protocol	19
1. C. Static and dynamic mechanical testing protocol	
1. D. Ethical considerations and consent to participate	
2. A. Study design, inclusion and exclusion criteria	
2. B. Preoperative treatment and implant placement protocol	
2. C. Restorative protocol	
2. D. Calculation of marginal bone loss, outcome variables assessed	
2. E. Ethical considerations and consent to participate	
3. Statistical analysis	
VI. RESULTS	
1. A. Initial measurements of the porcine ribs, results of the static load tests	
1. B. Results of the static load tests	
2. Retrospective clinical study	
VII. DISCUSSION	
VIII. NEW FINDINGS	
IX. SUMMARY	
X. ÖSSZEFOGLALÓ	
XI. REFERENCES	
XII. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	56
XIII. CO-AUTHOR CERTIFICATION	57
XIV. PUBLICATIONS	58

I. PUBLICATIONS

1. Publications related to the subject of the thesis

I. <u>Nagy ÁL</u>, Tóth Z, Tarjányi T, Práger NT, Baráth ZL: Biomechanical properties of the bone during implant placement. *BMC Oral Health* 2021; 21(1): e86.
IF₂₀₂₁: 3.477, SJR ranking: Q1, Citations: 4 (Independent citations: 1)

II. Szabó ÁL, <u>Nagy ÁL</u>, Lászlófy C, Gajdács M, Bencsik P, Kárpáti K, Baráth ZL: Distally Tilted Implants According to the All-on-Four[®] Treatment Concept for the Rehabilitation of Complete Edentulism: A 3.5-Year Retrospective Radiographic Study of Clinical Outcomes and Marginal Bone Level Changes. *Dent J* 2022; 10(5): e82.

IF₂₀₂₁: -, SJR ranking: Q2, Citations: 1 (Independent citations: 1) <u>ΣIF: 3.477</u>

2. Publications not related to the subject of the thesis

I. Donadu MG, Mazzarello V, Cappuccinelli P, Zanetti S, Madléna M, <u>Nagv ÁL</u>, Stájer A, Burián K, Gajdács M: Relationship between the Biofilm-Forming Capacity and Antimicrobial Resistance in Clinical *Acinetobacter baumannii* Isolates: Results from a Laboratory-Based *In Vitro* Study. *Microorganisms* 2021; 9(11): e2384.

IF₂₀₂₁: 4.926, SJR ranking: Q2, Citations: 12 (Independent citations: 12)

II. Gajdács M, Kárpáti K, <u>Nagy ÁL</u>, Gugolya M, Stájer A, Burián K: Association between biofilm-production and antibiotic resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolates: A laboratory-based case study and a literature review. *Acta Microbiol Immunol Hung* 2021; 68(4): 217-226.

IF2021: 2.298, SJR ranking: Q3, Citations: 6 (Independent citations: 4)

III. Donadu MG, Zanetti S, <u>Nagy ÁL</u>, Barrak I, Gajdács M: Insights on carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*: phenotypic characterization of relevant isolates. *Acta Biol Szeged* 2021; 65(1): 85–92.
IF₂₀₂₁: -, SJR ranking: Q4, Citations: 6 (Independent citations: 6)

ΣIF: 7.224

ΣIF for all publications: 10.701

3. Presentations related to the subject of the thesis

I. <u>Nagy ÁL</u>, Tóth Z, Tarjányi T, Práger NT, Baráth ZL: Csont fizikai tulajdonságainak vizsgálata enossealis implantáció előtt és azt követően kísérletes modell alapján. In: Seres László (szerk.) Magyar Arc-, Állcsont- és Szájsebészeti Társaság XXII. Kongresszusa és Szegedi Fogorvos Találkozó. 2018.09.27-2018.09.29., Szeged, Magyarország.

II. <u>Nagy ÁL</u>, Tóth Z, Tarjányi T, Práger NT, Baráth ZL: Csont fizikai tulajdonságainak vizsgálata enossealis implantáció előtt és után kísérletes modell alapján In: Szegedi Fogorvosnapok 2019. A Magyar Fogpótlástani Társaság XXIII. Kongresszusa – Implantációs és digitális protetika a 21. században: Szegedi Fogorvostalálkozó és Tudományos Konferencia. 2019.10.03-2019.10.05.m Algyő, Magyarország.

4. Presentations not related to the subject of the thesis

I. <u>Nagy ÁL</u>: Azonnali implantáció – esetbemutatás. In: XXVI. Szent-Györgyi Napok, a Szegedi Tudományegyetem Általános Orvostudományi Kar, a Richter Gedeon Nyrt. és a "Régió-10" Kft. szervezésében. 2019.10.15-2019.10.28., Szeged, Magyarország.

II. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

3D: three-dimensional Ao4: All-on-Four Ao6: All-on-Six AP: alveolar process AUC: area under the curve **BOP:** bleeding on probing **CBCT:** cone-beam computed tomography **CT:** computed tomography DA: disto-approximal aspect **DM:** diabetes mellitus E: Young's modulus/elastic modulus FEA: finite element analysis MA: mesio-approximal aspect **MBL:** marginal bone loss MRONJ: medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaws **OPT:** panoramic X-ray QoL: quality of life **RCT:** randomized controlled trial S: toughness SEM: standard error of the mean SPSS: Statistical Package for the Social Sciences **Ti:** titanium v: Poisson's ratio WHO: World Health Organization

III. INTRODUCTION

A. Edentulism

Oral health has a multidimensional (physiological, functional, psychological) role in the general health and well-being of individuals; however, oral diseases are some of the most common non-communicable illnesses globally, affecting around 3.5 billion people [1]. With considerable demographic changes and an ageing population, the long-term consequence of these oral conditions is expected to be more pronounced in the coming decades. The loss of teeth is considered as an end-point of a life-long history of oral diseases. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), severe tooth loss (or partial edentulism) is a state of having ≤ 9 permanent teeth, while edentulism is a state of complete toothlessness [1,2]. Edentulism may result from teeth not developing in the first place (i.e., true or total adontia), however, this condition is fortunately extremely rare. In the overwhelming majority, edentulism is a result of the extraction of permanent teeth in adulthood, which may be due to long-term consequences of caries and its complications, periodontal disease, orofacial trauma or other orofacial pathologies (e.g., cysts, tumours) [3]. Edentulism is a definite condition, which has emerged as a global public health issue: according to the WHO Global Oral Health Status Report (2021), the estimated prevalence of edentulousness globally is 6.82%, with an increase of over 80% between 1990 and 2019 [4,5]. Among high-income regions, the WHO European Region has the highest prevalence (12.42%), but lowest proportional change (+30%) worldwide [4,5].

Once the extraction of the teeth occurs, the jaw undergoes degenerative changes in size and shape that are continuous for the duration of the individual's life. The alveolar process (AP) is a thick rigde of bone, which is part of the maxilla and the mandible [6]. The AP supports the teeth as a functional part of the jawbones (containing the tooth sockets), and is a tooth dependent structure: the volume, shape, height and width of the AP are determined by the shape of teeth [7]. Once the teeth are lost to the body, degenerative processes are initiated, as well as the alteration of the width (horizontal dimension) and height (vertical dimension) of the AP. It is established knowledge that post-extraction resorption affects the buccal bone plate in both jawbones more extensively than the oral bone walls [8]. These degenerative changes are the most prominent in the first three months after tooth loss [9], i.e., two-thirds of the horizontal reduction of the bone occur within the first three months of healing after tooth extraction, if unaltered by prosthetic procedures [10].

After the physiological forces associated with mastication are no longer present on the cancellous alveoral bone (applied via the roots of the teeth), the loss of mechanical stimulation invariably leads to reduction in bone mass [11]. These changes – based on physical laws, such as the Mechanostat Model and Wolff's Law – were first described for long bones of the limbs; however, they are relevant for the AP and other regions of the skull, with some differences in etiopathology, specific for the jaws (e.g., site-specific behavior or osteoblasts/osteoclasts, matrix composition) [12-14]. Following the extraction of teeth, the first step in remodeling occurs with the resorption of the bundle bone (initiates after ~ 2 weeks), which has no further functionality without the corresponding periodontal ligaments; the bundle bone will then transform into woven bone [15]. This phenomenon correlates with and may explain the height decrease of the buccal side of the edentulous site in the first four weeks of healing. In response to the balance of osteobast and osteoclast activity, dimensional reduction of the AP and formation of new bone happens in parallel in the 3 months following extraction [10]. In the second phase (4-8 weeks following extraction), the woven bone will transform into lamellar bone and bone marrow to a large degree; the resorption continues, and the height of the buccal side of the edentulous site continues to decrease, as well as the width from the buccal and lingual outer walls [16,17]. This width reduction will reach ~50% of its original volume in the first year after extraction; this irreversible process is a well-known pathophysicological occurrence, which is termed residual ridge resorption or remodeling [18]. Over time, bone resorption progresses on the edentulous ridge of the mandible [19], with not just horizontal and vertical dimensions affected by the remodeling, but significant changes in the quality of the bone as well. The atrophy of the AP may greatly vary between individuals, affected by the anatomic characteristics of the jaws, age, sex, inflammatory and immune status, hormone levels, among others [20]. The reduction of the AP is an irreversible, life-long process; however, it may be slowed down using a treatment plan involving the use of prostheses to transfer the loads to the underlying bone in the most physiologic way (usually by using implant-supported overdentures or endosseous implants) [21].

Several classification systems have been devised to describe the quality of the edentulous jaw bone prior to implant placement [22]; the most commonly used classification is by Lekholm and Zarb (1985), which serves as a recognized prognostic indicator for future implant performance. This classification is based on the ratio of the cortical and medullar bone in the residual alveolar bone: *type I* corresponds to large quantities of homogenous cortical bone, *type II* corresponds to the case when a dense medullar bone is surrounded by a thick cortical layer, in case of *type III*, a thin cortical layer surrounding a dense medullar bone, while

for type IV, only a thin cortical layer is available, surrounding a soft, low-density medullar bone (**Figure 1.**) [23,24]. Overall, types II and III are generally noted to ensure favourable implant stabilization and good healing conditions. The other frequently used method to assess bone quality is associated with Misch [25]; this classification system is based on the density of the remaining alveolar bone, with different bone types being characteristic in different regions of the edentulous jawbones. Therefore, D1 bone type is the densest in structure, mostly found in the interforaminal region of the mandible, D2 is less dense, and typically found in the rest of the mandible, D3 is frequent in the anterior maxilla, while D4 may be identified in the posterior part of the maxilla, and is the least dense.



Figure 1. Lekholm-Zarb classification for the bone quality of the edentulous jaw (type I-IV) Types II and III provide favourable outcomes after implant placement [23,24]

As edentulism has a considerable negative impact for esthetic and functional aspects for patients, it should be managed through prosthetic rehabilitation, which can be either be implant or tissue-supported, with fixed or removable prostheses, that are not only suitable for providing the functional rehabilitation of the masticatory system and proper phonation, but also restores the lost facial aesthetics of the patients [26]. The rehabilitation of edentulous mandibles is especially difficult, as the residual ridge has smaller surface than the maxilla, where we can also gain considerable extrension on palatal surfaces to establish a peripheral seal and to retain a complete denture. In addition, the retention of mandibular dentures is hindered by the presence of the moving tongue and orofacial muscles, which tend to dislodge the denture during function [27]. The possible complaints and adverse events associated with wearing removable prostheses include the occurrence of mucosal irritation, under-extension of the denture bases, incorrect jaw relationships, incorrect occlusal vertical dimensions, and an inadequate posterior palatal seal [28].

B. Implant placement, osseointegration

Clinical decision-making in modern dentistry should always be based on the most reliable scientific evidence, with the clinico-epidemiological correlates of the patients in mind [29]. Nevertheless, the costs of the treatment, long-term durability and the expectations of the patient should also be considered, in line with shared decision making for the treatment plan. With the development of dentistry, the esthetic and functional expectations of patients have also increased considerably; therefore, patients anticipate fixed dentures even in a total edentulous state. These expectations may be challenging for the dentist, especially in particularly complicated cases with severe atrophy of the AP (e.g., if tooth extractions happened a long time ago, or the teeth were extracted with resective surgical procedures) [30]. Implant surgery is characterized by placing a dental implant made from alloplastic material - in most cases titanium (Ti) - in a previously prepared nest in the jawbone. The biocompatibility, mechanical properties and corrosion resistance of Ti is excellent, and it is a relatively strong and durable metal, which is able to withstand the mechanical stresses and strains arising during the everyday chewing and biting [31]. Ti is also a relatively light metal (with a density $[\rho]$ of 4500 kg/m³, a Young's modulus [E] of 102 GPa, and a Poisson's ratio [v] of 0.36), which reduces the total implant weight, and also reduces the occurring strains in the nearby tissue. Ti dental implants also have a unique ability to osseointegrate with the living tissue, which leads to a direct bond with the jaw bone. Based on the special characteristics, we can agree that the Ti-anchored dental implants provide a stable foundation for dental prostheses [32].

Implant placement protocols allow us to deliver fixed implant-supported dental prostheses to patients, to achieve a high degree of satisfaction, and to avoid lack of stability and retention failure [33]. Implant placement requires clinicians to utilize the remaining bone in the most efficient way possible in view of the severity of the involution. Unfortunately, limiting factors may occur in case of dental implant surgery, especially in case of edentulous patients; these factors include decreased bone volume, poor bone quality in the posterior parts of the jaws, and expanse of the laterobasal wall of the maxillary sinus [34]. Implant placement in heavily atrophied jaws is usually impossible without guided regeneration surgery, a sinus elevation procedure, nerve transposition and soft tissue management, especially in case of elderly people, who typically have severely atrophic alveolar process with D1 quality bone and a high degree of cortical bone volume [35-37]. Although guided bone regeneration procedures, alveolar crest augmentation and other surgical procedures have predictable success rate, they are also associated with a high-risk of patient morbidity, adverse events (e.g., graft failure, loss

of soft tissue contours, infections, hemorrhage, neurosensory disturbances), and improper implant placement [38-40].

Following implant placement, implant survival is dependent upon the fixation of alloplastic material to the biological surface. Per-Ingwar Branemark (1965) described the phenomenon of osseointegration to explain the bond between the Ti implant surface and the bone, establishing the scientific basis for modern implantology [41,42]. Osseointegration is a successful outcome, a direct functional and structural connection between the bone and the implant surface [43]. In the healing process, the rigid fixation of an alloplastic material is realized, and functional ankylosis may be seen during histologic examination with no fibrous or connective tissue, between the bone and implant surface [44]. According to Branemark the requirements for succesful osseointegration are the following:

- 1. Implant material with biocompatibility
- 2. Implant design perfect fit and maximum contact between the implant and the bone
- 3. Implant finish a larger surface is more beneficial for the cell attachments
- 4. Status of the bone proper bone quality and quantity
- 5. Surgical technique minimal surgical trauma and cooling
- 6. Implant loading undisturbed healing period for osseintegration

The process of bone healing after implant placement is similar to primary bone healing. Blot clots form between the bone-implant interface, which is later transformed by immune cells, and first a procallus, then a dense connective tissue forms. Osteoblasts and osteoclasts differentiate from mesenchymal cells, forming a callus that later will be become the new bone [45]. After the loading of the implant, bone remodelling occurs by the stimulation of masticatory forces, and the newly formed immature bone becomes denser and more homogenous with the calcifation of the Haversian canals. Nevertheless, many failures and complications may arise during the use of implants to support restorations; while many of these failures may be prevented by appropriate patient selection and a careful treatment planning, their risk should always be considered [46]. Implant failures may be classified as primary (or early), resulting from failure of osseointegration, and secondary (late), where usually soft-tissue and/or biomechanical factors are implicated (Figure 2.) [47]. Both early and late implant failure may be affected by patient characteristics (i.e., non-modifiable risk factors such as age, sex, immune status, chronic conditions or diseases, oral status and inadequate oral hygiene, periodontal disease, bruxism, medication intake, smoking) and adherence to treatment guidelines [48].



Figure 2. Classification and causes of dental implant failure [47]

Pre-surgical implant planning and bone preparation are some of the critical aspects to ensure a successful intervention and a pleasing outcome of implant-supported prostheses. Before implant placement, preparation of the implant bed (implant nest) needs to take place. Implant bed preparation should be performed as effectively and gently as possible, to ensure the primary healing and the long-term success of the implants [48]. The conventional drilling is a commoly used technique to prepare implant nests [49]; first, a gradual drilling of the osteotomy site occurs, which is later enlarged to the desired diameter. To ensure reliable implant-to-bone connection, mechanical and thermal trauma of the bone should be limited. It has been described that intraosseous temperature should not exceed 47 °C (otherwise it will lead to bone tissue necrosis, and a disruption in the architecture of collagen fibers), as it may interfere with osseointegration [50]. It is plausible to suggest that the mechanical properties of the mandible may be affected by the procedure of pre-drilling, and the subsequent substitution of space with a different characteristic material.

C. Fracture of the atrophic mandible related to dental implants

A bone fracture is a medical condition in which there is a partial or complete break in the continuity of any bone in the body. Pathological fractures are special kind of disruption of bone continuity, that occur in those regions where the volume or the quality of the bone has been decreased by any ongoing pathological condition [51]. Pathological fractures in the jaw bones may be a result of ostemyelitis [52], osteoradionecrosis [53], medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaws (MRONJ) [54], or are facilitated by cystic lesions [55], benign, malignant or metastatic tumors [56,57], or caused by surgical procedures, e.g., removal of an impacted third molar [58], or implant placement. Pathological fractures as complications of oral surgery occur at a rate of 0.2% [40]. Pathological fractures of the mandible after enosseus implant placement have rarely been reported in the literature [59]. To establish the quality and availability of the mandibular bone is critial to ascertain the possible adverse effects and the risk of pathological fractures. This phenomenon may take place at the time of the surgical procedure of implant placement, but more frequently, when the implant fails and additional osteomyelitis occurs, especially in severly resorbed mandibles [60]. In the event of short implants placed in the edentulous ridge with severe atrophy for anchoring fixed dental prosthetic devices, the ratio between the length of the implant and the length of the suprastructure (e.g., crown, bar attachment, bridge) is compromised, resulting an extented arm of force; the resuling extended toque leads to unfavorable biomechanics. In these cases, even performing routine oral functions could cause a fracture without any direct trauma to the mandible [61]. The use of wide diameter implants and bicortical penetration may also endanger the integrity of a severly atrophic mandible [51].

The management of pathological fractures may be challenging, and it is different caseby-case, according to the etiology of the pathological condition that has led to the fracture. In most cases the treatment is open reduction and internal fixation, via an extraoral or intraoral approach [62]; however, in some cases when the fractures are linear, non-displaced and located at an inter implant location, stabilization with closed reduction techniques (e.g., using splints on the remaining implants) may also present as a good solution. In most cases, conservative techniques are not going to be efficient in case of a severly athrophized mandible, therefore osteosynthesis plates are used for rigid fixation and after the surgery, soft diet is recommended [63]. Elderly patients are predominantly affected by severely resorbed mandibles, and such a surgical intervention may be quite burdensome in this age group, especially when considering the prolonged recovery period and the possible surgical complications [64].

D. Immediate loading, the All-on-FourTM treatment concept

Implants are used as a framework to transfer functional and parafunctional stresses generated during mastication onto peri-implant tissues, and to allow for the introduction of a restoration, which may be according to an an immediate-loading or delayed-loading concept [65]. Immediate loading (or immediate function) concept refers to the insertion of dental implants, abutments and restoration within the same day (or within 48 hours of implant placement) [66]. In practice, a preliminary acrylic immediate prosthesis is delivered within 2 hours after the surgery, after 4-6 months the final prostheses are made. The concept is a response to patients' increasing demand for quick, esthetic treatment and reduced time-to-teeth [67]; this has been verified by the study of Hof et al., where patients preferred immediate implant placement, instead of four other treatment protocols [68]. In addition to reduced treatment duration, the advantages of immediate rehabilitation - in patients where it is applicable include lower morbidity rates and higher esthetic value. The clinical success of immediatelyloaded implants is influenced by numerous factors (see Figure 3), such as the oral hygiene of the patient [69], bone quality and ratio of cortical/trabecular bone [31,70], the surgical technique used [71], type and nature of the occlusion [72], implant design and macrogeometry (threaded vs. cylindrical, length, diameter) [73-75], and the abutment fit and conical angle connection [76] among others. However, one of the most critical aspects of the success of immediate loading implants is primary stability, influencing the early phase of osseointegration, regulated by the quality and quantity of bone tissue surrounding the implant [77]. After implant placement, primary implant stability is fundamental to avoid micro-movements (micromotions) at the bone-implant interface during osseointegration. If micromotions values are exceedingly high, a non-mineralized, fibrous, fluid-filled capsule forms around the implants instead of skeletal attachment and osseointegration [78]. Thus, to ensure complete successful osseointegration, micromotion values should be below 50-150 µm, according to several preclinical and clinical studies [79,80]. Maximum micromotion values are considerably influenced by the density of cancellous bone, while crestal cortical bone density only had a major role, it if was found together with low cancellous bone density [81].



Figure 3. Main factors influencing the success of the immediate loading concept [82]

As previously described, in patients with severely atrophic AP and advanced involution, complex bone augmentation procedures may be necessary prior to implant placement. However, bone grafting may be avoided by the use of tilted implants - associated with an extension of the distal cantilever – in the maxilla or the mandible, which has shown to be a viable alternative with no significant difference in clinical success rates [83,84]. Based on this strategy, numerous novel treatment concepts have emerged in the the recent years, including the "All-on-FourTM" (Ao4) and "All-on-SixTM" (Ao6) concepts. The Ao4 concept was introduced by Maló et al. (Nobel Biocare AB, Göteborg, Sweden), where four implants are applied in the anterior part of completely edentulous jaws to support provisional, fixed, and immediately loaded prosthesis [85,86]. In Ao4 treatment, all implants are placed in the interforaminal area of the maxilla/mandible, with two anterior implants placed axially and parallel to each other, while the two posterior implants are distally tilted (30°-45°) to achieve the most favourable implant distribution in the edentulous jaws [87,88]. The role of the tilted implants is to provide anchorage for the first molar occlusion with a short cantilevered segment, in addition, violation of the surrounding nerves is also avoided [89,90]. Ao4 are many times done with the use of computer-assisted procedures and implant guides, further enhance the reliability and safety of the procedure [91]. After the surgery implants are immediately loaded, which therefore highly relies on achieving adequate primary stability, affected by the preparation of the implant bed, implant geometry and bone quality [92]. Adequate cortical bone volume favours implants achieving high primary stability, however, in many cases, if this is not available (e.g., implant anchorage in the total edentulous maxilla is often restricted), then immediate loading may be a greater challenge [93].

As the Ao4 concepts is based on the use of reduced number of tilted implants, individual implant properties (e.g., length, diameter, macrogeometry, surface) have considerably higher relevance [94]. For example, it has been demonstrated that the use of longer implants – corresponding to a longer bone-to-implant contact area – leads to greater primary stability, but only up to a cut-off point of about 12-15 mm [95]; on the other hand, implants with greater diameter are associated with better secondary stability [96]. Many studies have shown that making immediate rehabilitations on fully edentulous jaws using tilted implants is a safe and effective approach, with marginal bone loss levels not greater as compared to axially placed implants [97]; based on retrospective studies, marginal bone loss levels were around 0.5-1.5 mm in 3-5 years, both in the maxilla and the mandible [98]. Ao4 procedures have a predictable and positive prognosis, and high patient satisfaction rates [99,100]. While long-term analyses are not available, short-term success rates (92-100%) are impressive, and a decade-long study by Maló et al. reported a mandibular implant survival rate of 98.2% [101,102]. Additionally, finite element analysis (FEA) studies have also verified Ao4 as a good alternative with regards to stress and strain distribution, which can safely support the fixed dentures [103,104].

E. Basic physical concepts, stresses

Dental biomaterials – such as implants – and the surrounding alveolar bone are continously being subjected to various mechanical forces (or loads) during functional (biting, chewing) and parafunctional (e.g., bruxism) activities of the mouth, which may affect their primary stability during immediate loading [105]. Nonetheless, the distribution of mechanical forces and the load transfer at the bone-implant interface is also critical from the standpoint of secondary implant stability, which includes the long-term tissue response to the implant, and subsequent bone remodeling processes (i.e., mechanotransduction) [106]. Transmission of loads at the bone-implant interface is mediated by a variety of factors, including occlusal loads, the number, the geometric and material properties of the implants and/or prosthesis, and the quality and quantity of the AR [107]. The denser the cancellous bone, the more stress it bears, and less stress is expected to be seen in other structures. Assessing how bone and implant components behave demands the understanding of the underlying mechanical and biological

processes, in the context of each patients' unique jaw anatomy, bone quality and occlusal load exerted on the prosthesis and on any type of suprastructure material.

In response to external forces, bodies and/or materials will also respond by the awakening of internal forces (stresses), that are of the same magnitude, but with the opposite direction. The explanation of complex stresses may be divided into basic stress types, i.e., tensile, compressive and shear stresses. For every body or material, there is a limit to the amount of applied force that can be whitstanded, which is termed fracture stress or ultimate tensile strenght. In addition to stress, strain is also an important term, which refers to dimensional changes occurring in a body or material, when external forces apply. Stress and strain are not independent or unrelated properties of materials: i.e., the application of an external force, producing a stress within a material, results in a change in dimension or strain within the body. The relationship between stress and strain is often used to characterise the mechanical properties of materials; such data may be generated using mechanical testing machines. In addition to ultimate tensile strenght, density, Young's modulus (elastic modulus; tensile elasticity along a line when opposing forces are applied), Poission's ratio (informing the ratio of expansion along one axis to contraction along the opposite axis when a material is subjected to tensile or compressive stresses) and yield limit number (defined as the mechanical stress where the material enters into its plastic behavior) are also important material properties to be considered for dental biomaterials (Figure 4); these properties considerably affect the load-bearing capacity of implants [108,109] Dental materials (implants, prostheses) are subjected to intermittent stresses over a long period of time; although these stresses encountered may be far too small to cause fracture in the material when measured in a direct tensile, compressive or transverse tests, it may be possible that, over a period of time, failure may occur by a fatigue process. This involves the formation of micro cracks - caused by a stress concentration at a surface fault or due to the shape of the restoration or prosthesis – which may slowly propagate, until a fracture occurs [110]. The masticatory is also a kind of dynamic load in case of dental implants. During the dynamic loads, the forces appear repeatedly (cyclically) due to the chewing, which may cause micro-cracks, leading to implant failure or a fatigue fracture of the material. Dentists all have to be aware of the tensile, compressive and shear stresses arising in the bone from the chewing forces and the implants during treatment planning.

When assessing the biomechanical properties of the peri-implant bone, maximum principal stress (1st principal stress; corresponding to strongest tensile stress values), minimum

principal stress (3rd principal stress; corresponding to strongest compressive stress values) and equivalent stress (von Mises stress; representing stress around the implant and implant-to-bone load transfer) are often used [111]. Compression is one of the main types of mechanical force, which acts along the vertical axis; these forces are typically generated during the biting and chewing. Compressive stress might cause micro-movements in the bone-implant connection although they range in an elastic boundary. Compressive forces during chewing are usually in the 400-500 N range, however, considering the cross-sectional area of an implant, this may lead to several hundreds of MPa mechanical stress on the implant-bone interface [112]. Tensile stress values occur for dental implants as shear forces that appear perpendicular to the vertical axis; these forces also occur during mastication, and may lead to changes in implant volume (i.e., expansion and contraction), leading to mechanical stress within the implant. Tensile stress values are usually highest at the implant neck, while compressive stresses peak at at the tip of the implant or at implant-bone contact surfaces. The mentioned mechanical stress values should not exceed the plasticity of the dental implants. Exceeding the load-bearing capacity of the alveolar bone during implant placement may result in decreased primary stability, marginal bone resorption and even implant failure [113].



Figure 4. Association between Young's modulus (elastic modulus) and ultimate tensile strength values in cortical/cancellous bone and commonly used implant materials [108,109]

IV. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The immediate loading concept has become a mainstay of implant-based restorations, due to reliable clinical outcomes and patient preferences. However, there is limited evidence available whether pre-drilling (implant nest preparation) or implant placement detrimentally affects the mechanical properties of the jaw bone, which could have deleterious effects for the restorative procedure (decreasing primary stability). In addition, in patients with limited bone supply, whom are affected by other underlying conditions and/or other parafunctional habits, marginal bone loss (MBL) over time may have severe consequences for secondary implant stability and threaten long-term implant survival. Thus, the aims of our present study were to: *i*) simulate implant placement according to the Ao4 protocol and immediate loading, to assess whether drilling and implant placement had harmful effects on the bone (and to investigate the risk of pathological fractures) in an *in vitro* study using a porcine rib model; *ii*) assess the influence of various clinico-epidemiological correlates on the rate of MBL in a retrospective single-center experience, following the implantation of distally tilted implants according to the Ao4 concept, evaluated by radiographic findings.

The specific goals of the study were the following:

- Determination of bone mechanical properties of porcine bone after different treatments (bones with no intervention, bones with implant nests drilled, bones with implants placed) using a static mechanical testing protocol, based on a 3-point bending test
- Determination of bone mechanical properties of porcine bone after different treatments (bones with no intervention, bones with implant nests drilled, bones with implants placed) using a dynamic mechanical fatigue protocol, based on a 3-point bending test (at the 100th, 2000th an 9000th cycle)
- Determination of the most likely point of fracture in the bone after different treatments (bones with no intervention, bones with implant nests drilled, bones with implants placed) during the static and mechanical testing protocols
- Determination of the effects of clinico-epidemiological correlates (e.g., oral hygiene, parafunctional habits, and smoking habits) on MBL around distally tilted Ao4 implants in a retrospective fashion, after 18 months (T1; 1.5 years post-restoration), 30 months (T2; 2.5 years post-restoration), and 42 months (T3; 3.5 years post-restoration) of follow-up

V. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Bone drilling experiments in vitro

1. A. Bone material

Fresh, non-frozen, young (~ 180 days) domestic porcine ribs with soft parts (i.e., periosteum, attached muscles, fascia, fat) were obtained from an abattoir (Szeged, Hungary). The preparation of the samples was carried out in the following fashion: excess soft parts were removed with a sharp scalpel (15C; Swann-Morton, Sheffield, UK), with care being taken to ensure that the periosteum was left intact. The rationale for the selection of porcine ribs was due to the excellent homogeneity and thickness of cortical bone [114], which is similar to the composition of a human mandible [115,116]. The dimensions of the ribs were measured with an analog dial caliper (0.01 mm spacing, Hoffmann Gruppe AK600203, Hoffmann Gruppe AG, Winterthur, Switzerland).

1. B. Measurement groups, drilling and implant placement protocol

Following measurement, the porcine ribs were randomly divided into three groups (Groups 1, 2 and 3 in the subsequent text). In **Group 1** (n = 17), implants were placed according to the Ao4 implant placement protocol: implant nests were drilled with a well-known and accepted physiodispenser (Implantmed Classic SI-923 physiodispenser, W&H, Bürmoos, Austria) and with its recommended surgical hand piece for implant placement (WS-75L surgical contra-angle handpiece, W&H, Bürmoos, Austria). Two implants (cylindro-conical; ICX TEMPLANT 4.1 mm x 10 mm, Medentis Medical GmbH, Bad Neuenahr/Ahrweiler, Germany) were placed parallel 5 and 5 milimeters (mm) laterally from the geometrical mean of the length and in geometrical mean of the width of the samples, while the two tilted implants (cylindro-conical; 45° ; ICX TEMPLANT 4.1 mm x 15 mm, Medentis Medical GmbH, Bad Neuenahr/Ahrweiler, Germany) were inserted 20 mm laterally from the adjacent, previously inserted implants. During pre-drilling and implant placement, manufacturer recommendations and accepted professional rules/guidelines were kept in mind, the surgical set and drills of the implants' manufacturer were used (ICX Premium surgical set, Medentis Medical GmbH, Bad Neuenahr/Ahrweiler, Germany). During the use of the physiodispenser (drilling), constantly

controlled irrigation was used with isotonic (0.9% NaCl) saline solution (B. Braun Hungary, Budapest, Hungary). In **Group 2** (n = 16), the implant nests were drilled with the same instrument described previously, for the same type and size of implant, but the implant nest was left empty without implant placement. In **Group 3** (or the control group; n = 18), no intervention was carried out on the bones. Following the necessary preparations, the samples were stored in a refridgerator (at 5°C) until further measurements.

1. C. Static and dynamic mechanical testing protocol

Each group was randomly divided into two parts to carry out the mechanical testing (static and dynamic fatigue) protocols. The first half of the samples were tested with a static tensile and compression materials testing machine (Tinnius Olsen H5KT Benchtop Materials Testing, Atec, Horsham, PA, USA), while the other half were involved in a fatigue test by an All-Electric Dynamic Test Instrument (Instron ElectroPulsTM E3000, Norwood, MA, USA) [117]. For the mechanical testing, a 3-point bending test was performed, which is a widely accepted method for fracture testing [118,119]. Special mechanical components were designed and manufactured for the purposes of the study, which could be applied in both the static and dynamic equipments; the setup of the bone and mechanical components in measurements is presented in **Figure 5**.

During the **static load** measurements, the bending deformation was increasing steadily on the bones, with the force being measured and digitized. The testing equipment recorded the position of the crosshead and the measured force. The maximum deformation was 10 mm, which was reached in 5 seconds. During the measurements, an automatic halt was actuated, when the device observed a sudden decrease in force. From the static load diagrams resulting from our experiment, a quantity (**S**) could be calculated according to the formula (1) below (corresponding to the area under the curves [AUC]), which correlates with the toughness of the ribs.

$$S = \int_{0}^{x_1} F(x) \cdot dx$$
(1)

Similarly to the static load test, the **dynamic fatigue tests** followed the arrangement of 3-point measurements [120,121]. Prior to these tests, the stiffness of each rib was determined by measuring the force-deflection curve between 0.2 and 0.8 mm deflection. After this process, the fatigue test was performed on the samples in deflection control mode, where the initial deflection was set to 2 mm, which was reached in 5 seconds. The fatigue signal was a sinus

function with 20 Hz frequency at 0.5 mm deflection amplitude over 10.000 cycles. At the end of the fatigue process, the load was decreased to 0 N in 5 seconds.



Figure 5. Experimental layout with special mechanical components designed and manufactured for the purposes of the study

A: supporting platform with point support rollers; B: pork rib segment; C: pressure head of the mechanical tear/break device with the roller used for point loading; D: distance between support points (standard 40 mm). E: vector of the force acting on the bone segment.

1. D. Ethical considerations and consent to participate

The animals were not sacrificed for the purpose of the experiment; therefore, the present study was not subject to review by a biomedical research ethics committee. Informed consent is not applicable.

2. Retrospective clinical study

2. A. Study design, inclusion and exclusion criteria

This retrospective, single-center study aimed to evaluate the clinico-epidemiological and radiographic data (peri-implant bone-level changes) from patients undergoing an implant surgical procedure with an immediately-loaded, four-implant-supported fixed prosthetic concept, following the Ao4 protocol, between 01.01.2017. and 01.01.2022. The study was based on purposive sampling at the study center, according to the following criteria:

- *inclusion criteria:* age ≥18 years, overall good health condition, able to undergo surgical intervention, in need for a complete rehabilitation of the edentulous maxilla or mandible, and the possibility of placing a minimum of 4 implants (at least 10 mm long), with sufficient bone height in the sites intended for implants (evaluated by preoperative CT scans).
- exclusion criteria: presence of an acute infection at the planned implant sites, known coagulopathies or other hematologic diseases, recent occurrence of severe cardiovascular or cerebrovascular event, immune disorders, uncontrolled diabetes mellitus (DM), pregnancy or lactation, metabolic illnesses affecting the bones, bisphosphonate therapy, heavy smoking (>10 packs/day), systemic chemotherapy or irradiation of the head and neck region within the last 12 months, presence of severe bruxism or clenching (assessed and identified by the clinicians, based on clinical signs and symptoms), and inadequate oral hygiene level (full-mouth plaque and bleeding scores over 20%), poor perceived motivation on the part of the patients to maintain good oral hygiene.

2. B. Preoperative treatment and implant placement protocol

Prior to the surgical intervention, the medical and dental history, relevant lifestyle habits (e.g., smoking), and potential drug allergies of the patients were reviewed, which was carried out by a prosthodontist and a periodontist. Following the discussion of the treatment plan and obtaining consent, surgical treatment was scheduled. Cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) scans (i-CAT cone beam CT-scanner, Imaging Science) were carried out for preoperative assessment. Individuals followed an antibiotic regimen per os (clindamycin 300 mg q.i.d.) three days prior to the surgical procedures in cases where teeth had to be extracted simultaneously. Preceding surgery, local anesthesia was administered. All relevant operative interventions were performed by the same surgeon with more than twenty years of experience associated with immediate loading procedures. Quantitative and qualitative assessment of the jaw bone was performed by means of preoperative radiographs, visual inspection, and tactile

evaluation during drilling; appraisal of bone quality was carried out using CBCT scans. Each patient received two distally tilted implants in the posterior region and two anterior implants in the maxilla or the mandible. Implant placement was carried out according to the Ao4 concept, using the Ao4 surgical guide (Nobel Biocare; Kloten, Switzerland). Localized bone grafting was performed to cover exposed threads and/or other osseous defects associated with extraction sockets, as needed with demineralized allografts. For the fabrication of the master cast to create the patients' provisional restoration, open-tray multi-unit impression copings were placed on the multi-unit abutments to make an impression using precision impression material (Flexitime, Heraeus Kulzer, Hanau, Germany). Following the operative procedure, patients were instructed to abstain from brushing in the first 7 days post-op, and to rinse using warm water. For 24 h post-io, instructions and recommendations were given for a soft diet (cold or at room temperature), to be followed by a semisolid diet for the following three months. Patients were supplied with antibiotics and analgesics to control post-operative pain and inflammation as per standard guidelines and protocols in oral surgery. To confirm implant positions, and the positions of the prosthetic components, a CBCT scan was taken immediately postoperatively.

2. C. Restorative protocol

Preceding surgery, a heat-cured acrylic resin (Ivocap High Impact acrylic, Ivoclar Vivadent, Amherst, NY, USA) was prefabricated, which was amended to the master model directly after the surgery. Fabrication was carried out using cold curing material (Probase, Ivoclar Vivadent, Amherst, NY, USA). Following 3-4 weeks after the completion of the operation, the provisional all-acrylic prosthesis was seated. Routine follow-ups were scheduled for the patients after surgery at 7, 14, and 28 days and 3 months after surgery, and on a yearly basis thereafter. Following the 3-month appointment, fabrication of the definitive prosthesis was initiated, consisting of a milled titanium frame with a wrap-around heat-cured acrylic resin (Nobel Procera Implant Bridge titanium framework veneered with composite). The antagonist denture was a fixed denture/implant supported restoration in all cases. A long-cone paralleling method was applied to obtain matched and calibrated orthopantomogram (OPT; panoramic Xray) images at the 3-month appointment and at the subsequent appointments continuously. The 3-month radiographs after the time of placement of the definitive prosthesis were utilized as a baseline (T₀) to assess the bone levels longitudinally. At the respective follow-ups, the implants were assessed for signs of peri-implantitis, plaque, and bleeding on probing (BOP), based on routine clinical guidelines.

2. D. Calculation of marginal bone loss, outcome variables assessed

Peri-implant bone-level changes were measured by matched and calibrated OPT images taken at the 3-month appointment (i.e., baseline, T_0) and follow-ups after 18 months (T_1 ; 1.5 years post-restoration), 30 months (T₂; 2.5 years post-restoration), and 42 months (T₃; 3.5 years post-restoration); marginal bone level (the most coronal bone-to-implant contact) was assessed on the mesio- (MA) and disto-approximal (DA) aspects. An independent researcher-not affiliated with the primary center and investigators-evaluated the OPT images. Radiographs were digitized in a 640 (H) \times 480 (V) pixel matrix image with an 8-bit depth. The density and contrast were then adjusted for optimal visualization of the marginal bone, and the digital images were saved as a TIF extension image. The 2D images were then exported and analyzed using the CLINIVIEW image analysis software (MI Dental, Knowsley, Prescot, UK). Calibration for image analysis was performed on an individual implant-level to achieve the most accurate results possible, where the known size and specifications of the individual documented implants were used as the basis for calibration to allow for the calculation of marginal bone level changes in the area. The change in marginal bone levels (ΔBL (mm)) from the baseline (T_0) to the values recorded at the follow-ups T_1 , T_2 , and T_3 were calculated. Marginal bone level changes were studied in the context of patients presenting with underlying conditions/parafunctional habits.

2. E. Ethical considerations and consent to participate

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and national and institutional ethical standards. Ethical approval for the study protocol was obtained from the Human Institutional and Regional Biomedical Research Ethics Committee, University of Szeged (registration number: 158/2021-SZTE [5035]). All participants were informed of the nature and aims of the study and the data collected; all participants of the study signed an informed consent form.

3. Statistical analysis

3. 1. Bone drilling experiments in vitro

Descriptive statistical analysis (including means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean), ranges and percentages) was performed using Microsoft Excel 365 (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, WA, USA). Based on the sample size in the study, the Shapiro-Wilk test was performed to validate the normality of distribution of the measured data; based on the results (p<0.05, the data was not normally distributed), nonparametric tests were used. Kruskal-Wallis test was performed to compare the measured force values between the different groups (Groups 1, 2, and 3); in case of significant differences overall, the Mann-Whitney U was used as a post-hoc test to identify individual (between the groups) differences. Inferential statistical analyses were carried out using the SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) software version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) and Microsoft Excel 365 (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, WA, USA), respectively. *p* values < 0.05 (5%) were considered statistically significant.

3. 2. Retrospective clinical study

Descriptive statistics (including means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean), ranges and percentages) was performed using Microsoft Excel 365 (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, WA, USA). Statistical analyses were carried out the SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) software version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA): the normality of variables was tested using the Shapiro–Wilk test; inferential statistics were performed using independent-sample t-test and one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test. *p* values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

VI. RESULTS

1. Bone drilling experiments in vitro

1. A. Initial measurements of the porcine ribs, results of the static load tests

The mean length, width and height of the bones were 117.1 mm, 13.4 mm and 9.8 mm, respectively. The mean \pm SEM value of the cortical bone thickness was 2.13 mm \pm 0.08 mm. The measurement results of the static load tests are summarized in **Figures 6-8 (Group 3: Figure 6, Group 2: Figure 7, Group 1: Figure 8)**; the first stage of the load-deflection curve could be described as almost linear (resembling a straight increasing line), which represents the flexible range of the rib. After the maximum force was exerted, even a small force was sufficient for further deflection. Figure 9 shows the occurred maximum static load force values: the measured mean \pm SEM force values were highest among Group 3 (control group) samples (298.9 \pm 30.95 N), followed by Group 1 (implanted group) (280.29 \pm 27.51 N) and Group 2 (pre-drilled group) (287.1 \pm 25.93 N) samples; no significant differences were found among the groups (p = 0.979).

In intact bone samples (Group 3), the sudden reduction in force associated with fractures was observed only after a large deformation of around 6.6 mm. The maximum forces observed for Group 3 were in the range of 200-800 N; typically, the maximum force values were achieved with 1.5-3 mm deflection. In drilled bone samples (Group 2), the maximum force values values (170-390 N) decreased compared to Group 1, with most measurements showing single or gradual fractures in the 2.4-5 mm deflection range (**Figure 10**). In line with this, in the implanted bone samples (Group 3), the maximum force values values (175-380 N) decreased compared to Group 1 and Group 2, the deflection values corresponding to the first partial fracture were in the range of 1.6-4.5 mm. Initally, partial cracks were observed between the two middle implants during the load. Fracture lines were always at the sites where the pre-drilling or the implant placement happened previously (**Figure 11**). Small breaks on the force-deflection curves indicated the appearance of new cracks; during loading, the appearance of a crack was often accompanied by a sound effect.

Based on the AUC values corresponding to the curves of **Figures 6-8**, the toughness of the bone (S) was expressed in Nmm, registered during the test; the results of these measurements are shown on **Figure 12.** Mean \pm SEM S values (in decreasing order) were 1701.37 \pm 166.335 Nmm among Group 3 members, 1235.56 \pm 248.392 Nmm in Group 1 samples, while 1175.77 \pm 128.832 Nmm in Group 2 samples; no significant differences were found in toughness among the groups (p = 0.16).

1. B. Results of the dynamic fatigue tests

During the anaylsis of the dynamic fatigue test results, force values for maximum deflection (2.5 mm) were measured at specified times (namely, at the 100th, 2000th and 9000th cycles, respectively); results of these experiments are summarized in **Figure 13**. The measured mean \pm SEM force values at the 100th cycle (in decreasing order) were 0.5766 \pm 0.033 kN for Group 3 (control group) samples, 0.4991 \pm 0.073 kN for Group 1 (implanted group) samples and 0.4030 \pm 0.081 kN for Group 2 (pre-drilled group) samples, respectively; according to the Kruskal-Wallis test, significant differences were shown between the groups (p = 0.014). The measured mean \pm SEM force values at the 2000th cycle (in decreasing order) were 0.3896 \pm 0.027 kN for Group 3 samples, 0.3530 \pm 0.049 kN for Group 1 samples and 0.2800 \pm 0.056 kN for Group 2 samples, respectively; significant differences were shown between the groups (p = 0.015). Furthermore, the measured mean \pm SEM force values at the 9000th cycle (in decreasing order) were 0.2999 \pm 0.015 kN for Group 3 samples, 0.2840 \pm 0.042 kN for Group 1 samples and 0.2227 \pm 0.042 kN for Group 2 samples, respectively; significant differences were shown between the groups (p = 0.015). Furthermore, the measured mean \pm SEM force values at the 9000th cycle (in decreasing order) were 0.2999 \pm 0.015 kN for Group 3 samples, 0.2840 \pm 0.042 kN for Group 1 samples and 0.2227 \pm 0.042 kN for Group 2 samples, respectively; significant differences were shown between the groups (p = 0.026).

Statistically significant differences were tested between groups with the Mann-Whitney U-test: relevant differences were shown between the measured force values between Group 3 (control group) and Group 2 (pre-drilled group) ribs at the 100th cycle (p = 0.001), which remained consistant at the 2000th cycle (p = 0.002) and 9000th cycle (p = 0.005). Measured force values did not show significant differences in any of the cycles examined among the Group 3 (control group) and Group 1 (implanted group) samples (100th cycle: p = 0.243; 2000th cycle p = 0.447; 9000th cycle p = 0.72); in addition, **Figure 13.** showed that these two groups exhibited very similar force values from the 9000th cycle onward. Similary, no significant differences were noted between Group 2 (pre-drilled group) ribs and Group 1 (implanted group) samples

any of the cycles examined (100th cycle: p = 0.33; 2000th cycle p = 0.136; 9000th cycle p = 0.094).



Figure 6. Static load diagram of Group 3 (control group)



Figure 7. Static load diagram of Group 2 (pre-drilled group)



Figure 8. Static load diagram of Group 1 (implanted group)



Figure 9. Occurrence of the maximum static force values

Blue: Group 3 (control group) samples, Orange: Group 2 (pre-drilled group), Yellow: Group 1 (implanted group)



Figure 10. Localization of the fracture line in case of pre-drilled samples during static tests



Figure 11. Localization of the fracture line in case of implanted samples during static test



Figure 12. Occurrence of toughness values among the studied groups Blue: Group 3 (control group) samples, Orange: Group 2 (pre-drilled group), Yellow: Group 1 (implanted group)



Figure 13. The force values measured for maximum deformation (2.5 mm) depending on the number of cycles among the studied groups in the dynamic fatigue tests
Blue: Group 3 (control group) samples, Orange: Group 2 (pre-drilled group), Yellow: Group 1 (implanted group)

2. Retrospective clinical study

In the retrospective clinical study, thirty-six (n = 36; males: n = 24, females: n = 12) patients underwent implant placement using the Ao4 concept, with complete records of periapical radiographs; n = 144 and n = 144 implants placed in the maxilla and mandibles of patients, respectively, therefore the analysis of n = 288 individual implant data was carried out. The mean age of patients at the time of fixture installation was 58.75 ± 13.71 years (range: 19–90 years). Out of the enrolled patient population, n = 6 patients receiving implants in the mandible (controlled DM n = 1, mild bruxism n = 1, impacted oral hygiene (i.e., full-mouth plaque score and full mouth bleeding score 0-20%) n = 1, smoking n = 3, smoking and impacted oral hygiene n = 1) and n = 5 patients receiving implants in the maxilla (controlled DM n = 1, impacted oral hygiene n = 1, mild bruxism n = 1 and smoking n = 1, smoking and impacted oral hygiene n = 1) had underlying conditions/habits relevant to the outcome of the study (i.e. MBL); these patients were grouped together for our comparative analyses.

Mean MBL after the 1.5-year follow-up was -0.558 ± 0.029 mm and -0.484 ± 0.024 mm, after the 2.5-year follow-up was -0.747 ± 0.030 mm and -0.678 ± 0.036 mm, while by the 3.5-year mark, bone loss was -0.770 ± 0.029 mm and -0.713 ± 0.026 mm regarding the implants placed in the maxilla and mandibular bone, respectively. In patients presenting with underlying conditions/habits described previously, a tendency was shown for higher bone loss rates in the maxilla (T₁: -0.633 ± 0.056 mm, T₂: -0.780 ± 0.056 mm, and T₃: -0.830 ± 0.053 mm) and the mandible (T₁: -0.535 ± 0.048 mm, T₂: -0.700 ± 0.054 mm, and T₃: -0.763 ± 0.051 mm), however none of these differences were statistically significant (p > 0.05). The degree of bone resorption was also assessed on an individual implant-level, separately in the maxilla and mandible; although we had a limited number of patients to pool from for aggregated data, significantly higher (p < 0.05) bone resorption levels were observed for 14MA (T₁: -0.760 ± 0.211 , and T₃: -1.260 ± 0.219) and 44DA (T₁: -0.700 ± 0.143 , T₂: -1.050 ± 0.183 , and T₃: -1.117 ± 0.168), while only numerical tendencies were shown for the other teeth.

VII. DISCUSSION

Successful implant placement is dependent on – among other things – the availability of adequate bone quality, while the longevity of the implants may be ensured by keeping the stresses on the bone within physiological range. The primary aim of our study was to establish whether pre-drilling (to prepare implant nests) and implant placement could have detrimental effects, i.e., to affect primary stability of the implant in the short term, while threatening therapeutic success in the long term; in addition, the risk and relevance of pathological fractures associated with immediately-loaded implants were also investigated. If this process affects bone biomechanical properties, the possibility of three-dimensional (3D) torsion deformation of the jaw has to be considered as a harmful effect, as the decreased mechanical properties the jawbone will render it less resistant against even everyday physiological impacts [122,123]. Our initial hypothesis was that implant placement and regenerative procedures should negatively impact the mechanical properties of the bone. To this end, an in vitro study was carried out using porcine ribs (to simulate an atrophic jaw), where mechanical properties of the bone were tested for static and dynamic load-bearing capacity (to simulate masticatory forces) - based on a 3point bending test - following a pre-drilling procedure and/or implant placement as based on the Ao4 protocol, in comparison to the properties of untreated bone. As a secondary aim of this research, the bone loss levels in patients presenting with underlying conditions and lifestyle factors were assessed as a sub-group of patients receiving Ao4 implants in a retrospective radiographic study. It is well-known that inadequate oral hygiene (and a lack of motivation to practice good oral care), chronic conditions affecting the physiology of the oral cavity, smoking, and bruxism have a considerable influence on implant survival and clinical outcome, so much so that severe cases of the above mentioned are considered contraindications for the use of dental implants.

We have found that **Group 2** (pre-drilled group) and **Group 1** (implanted group) bone samples consistently had lower static load-bearing capacity, toughness and dynamic fatiguebearing capacity, compared to the **Group 3** (untreated, control group) samples; pre-drilled bone samples consistently showed the lowest values, followed by implanted bones and the untreated bones. While in the static load tests, the differences in force values and toughness were only numerical (not statistically significant), in the dynamic fatigue tests, significant differences were shown between the three bone groups; upon more careful analysis, it was observed that pre-drilled bone had considerably worse mechanical properties compared to Group 1 and 3, on the other hand the control and implanted bone samples presented with very similar mechanical properties by the 9000th cycle (as demonstrated by the similar course of the force curves). Subsequent bone breakage (shown by the appearance of partial cracks and subsequent fracture lines) were always shown at the sites where the pre-drilling or the implant placement occurred previously. Overall, the results of our mechanical examinations highlighted that placement of the holes via pre-drilling considerably reduced the stiffness and mechanical strength of the bone, which has led to macroscopic fractures from loading even at smaller deformations. The reduction of the damage limit clearly indicates the weakening of the bone's resistance to force, which may partly be due to the decrease in the effective bone thickness in the drilled region. According to our static load tests, filling the pre-drilled nest with implants did not considerably improve the mechanical resistance of the bones. The reason for the appearance of cracks may be to be due to the fact, that the holes are filled with harder material than the spongy bone, thus, consequently local stresses at the implant-bone interface are exerted during loading. While implant placement has partially restored the load-bearing capacity and mechanical strength in the dynamic tests, implanted bone still did not reach the mechanical strength of intact bone. With regard to the risk of pathological fractures, the chance for breakage was always highest at the sites where the pre-drilling or the implant placement had occurred, which is presumed as a consequence of the reduced mechanical resistance of the treated bone samples compared to the untreated ones. Among the thirty-six patients, eleven were impacted by relevant clinicepidemiological factors (controlled DM, mild bruxism, impacted oral hygiene and smoking) where MBL levels were comparatively assessed: while a tendency for higher bone loss values were shown around the implants in these individuals, significant differences were not shown.

The use of implant-supported prostheses for the rehabilitation of edentulous patients has become a widely used and effective method in prosthodontics; as a form of tertiary prevention in dental care, prosthetics allow individuals to regain both functionality and psychological wellbeing, which has wide-ranging consequences for the general and oral health-related quality of life (QoL) experienced by these patients. In these procedures, effective prosthetic restorations are carried out using 6-8 implants, with a posterior cantilever extension added where possible [122]. Nevertheless, dentists are required to find solutions for patients with diverse jaw anatomy, bone quality, and functional, esthetic and economic expectations. The Ao4 treatment concept is an attractive treatment option for the rehabilitation of patients with severely atrophic AP and advanced involution, without the need of carrying out risky surgical augmentations with high rate of morbidity [123]. Additional advantages of the Ao4 technique include the smaller number of implants needed, greater distance between the implants, and the use of tilted implants (30-45°), resulting in a shorter cantilever [124]. However, as the Ao4 concept is based on immediate loading implants (which is associated with higher levels of stress in the surrounding bone), therefore achieving appropriate levels of primary (mechanical) implant stability – which has a considerable influence on the immediate outcome of the surgery – is essential [125]. Implant failure, if insufficient primary stability is reached, may be as high as 30-40% [126]. Transmission of masticatory loads on osseointegrated implants (which are directly fixed into the cortical and cancellous bone) is dissimilar to the mechanisms occurring with natural teeth; as periodontal ligaments are unable provide stress reduction, this leads to the direct transmission of occlusal forces into surrounding tissues [127]. Reduced load-bearing capacity increases the risk of micro-crack formation, bone resorption and peri-implant bone defects. Similarly, if first and third principal stress values exceed characteristic physiological limits (i.e., the ultimate strength) of the bone, bone resorption would occur. Implant health may be influenced by numerous factors, which may be classified as: patient-related local attributes (e.g., oral hygiene status, gingivitis, periodontal disease, quality and quantity of the jaw bone, configuration of adjacent natural teeth, viability of the soft tissue), patient-related systemic attributes (e.g., advanced age, smoking, alcohol use, bruxism, DM or other chronic conditions, streroid therapy, head-neck radiotherapy, anticancer or immunosuppresive drugs, hypersensitivity reactions), mechanical factors (loading, occlusion), attributes of the surgical technique (e.g., extensive trauma, overheating of bone, bacterial contamination) and implant characteristics (e.g., previous implant failue in the anamnestic data, implant length and diameter, surface roughness, purity and sterility, implant fintess and load-bearing capacity) [128]. During surgery, clinicians may rely on classic qualification systems (e.g., Lekholm-Zarb) to assess the quality of the available bone at the edentulous bone sites, as these are based on the cortical-medullar bone ratio – therefore the density of the bone – and the crestal cortical bone thickness has a good predictive power for implant primary stability, which is protective against micromovements during load transmission to the implants, e.g., in case of an immediately loaded Ao4 restoration [129]. Relationship between primary implant stability and bone density is due to the the stabilizing effect of the massive cortical layer, which gives a strong mechanical support immediately after implant placement [130]. In case of reaching 30 to 40 Ncm or higher implant insertion torque values, as one the most easily measureable parameter during surgery, immediate loading may be performed, and if we respect all the strict rules of immediate loading,

there are no evidence of clinical outcome differences, implant failure rate or bone loss around implants in case of different loading protocols [131,132].

The effects of underlying patient characteristics on implant survival were highlighted by the recent publication of Mohanty et al., where higher failure rates were shown in patients with bruxism (13%), periodontitis (15%), DM (29%) and in smokers (27%) [130]. Additionally, a meta-analysis of cohort studies by also verified that in patients with bruxism (vs. in nonbruxers), dental implant technical/biological complications and implant failure rate was significantly higher in all studies involved [133]. The implant-abutment connection also has a significant role in mediating the distribution of forces, stabilizing the unit [134]. In those cases when more implants are inserted in the interforaminal region, the risk increases that the structure of the atrophic madible will be compromised further. Based on our results, the surgical site of the implants placed and osseointegration did represent an area of stress concentration and weakness [135]. The lower number of tilted implants used during Ao4 procedures, may lead to overloading (i.e., exceeding the load bearing capacity of the jawbone). The jawbone adapts to its loading and responds to stresses by bone formation or resorption, which is why neither unloaded nor overloaded areas are desirable; appropriate treatment planning is imperative to avoid these long-term consequences. The resistance of bone is best under compressive stresses, while for tensile stress and shear loads, maximum resistance is less, by around 30-40% and 60-70%, respectively [136]. Implant design and geometry, therefore, has important effects on implant-to-bone load transfer: it has been described that the use of cylindrical implants may be disadvantageous, as they transfer undesirable shearing effects at the bone-implant interface; on the other hand, the presently available literature on whether to recommend cylindrical or tapered implants - based on in vitro or in vivo experimental data, finite element analysis or clinical studies - is controversal at best [137-139]. On the other hand, surface functionalization and the introduction of implant threads (increasing the surface areas) has been described to transform occlusal stresses into more desirable and tolerable compressive forces at the implant-bone interface [140]. The length of the implants is also an important attribute to consider, when assessing the distribution of stresses, bone resorption and implant survival rates, as many clinical reports have shown that extra-short and short implants have lower success rates and higher bone resorption [141]; this was confirmed by the meta-analysis of Fernandes et al., which included randomized controlled trials (RCTs), and assessed data at one-year-, three-year-, five-year- and eight-year follow-ups [142]. Therefore, in the context of our study, it would be worthwhile to assess whether a difference exists in the modulating effect
on bone mechanical properties after implant placement, involving implants of different length, diameter and surface properties.

Laboratory experiments on bone ribbon samples (from animals and/or cadavers) were traditionally used for the determination of mechanical stability and stress levels in implants and bones [143]. Nevertheless, these methods are often cost and labor-intensive, thus alternative techniques to study mechanical stress distributions for dental implant research have received considerable attention. One the promising methods is the use of 3D FEA, to model stress distributions in implants, around peri-implant tissues and on prostheses; the clear advantage of 3D FEA is the ability of this digital method to mimic complex biological objects (e.g., an edentulous jaw), and the wide-range settings and parameters that may be adjusted for the analysis of specific models and clinical situations [144]. Dental implant FEA may be used for a variety of purposes, such as optimizing implant design, predicting implant failure, and determining the optimal loading conditions for dental implants. Since its introduction, Ao4 models have undergone considerable scrutiny using 3D FEA models, to the biomechanical features of the immediately loaded implants [145]; however, in most of the the immediate loading models with FEA, a non-osseointegrated contact interface was simulated between the bone and the implant [146] It is important to note that our measurements were also performed on non-osseointegrated samples. In the event that osseointegration occurs, mechanical properties are expected to improve further, although the extent of micromotions must be taken into consideration during Ao4 (and more broadly immediate loading), as these threaten primary stability. Liu et al. has demonstrated, that micromotions in their immediate-loading models were significantly higher than in delayed-loading cases, and the highest micromotions were at the alveolar around the neck of the tilted implants [147].

If the biomechanical barriers of the freshly inserted implants and the surrounding bone structures, are not respected enough, immediate loading is performed and temporary restorations are made before osseointegration occurs, we can easily induce excessive micromotions and localized stress at the bone-implant interface, which may lead to premature implant loss. Additionally, our experimental results have shown that local mechanical stresses appear at the bone-implant interface, which reduces the force required to cause fractures; this means that – especially in patients with a severely atrophic AP and relatively low bone quality – even the loss of a single implant after the surgery may eliminate the stabilizing effect of the implants on the mechanical properties of the bone structure, rendering it more susceptible to cracks and pathological fractures. Many studies have demonstrated and showed that the use of

tilted implants in Ao4 increases tension around them, however, splinting of the prosthetic parts together is a viable method to decrease the amount of stress on the implants [148]: the publication of Sannino et al. reported that implants placed at 15° , 30° , and 45° , with a greater angle at the implant-bone interface, exert the greatest stress, however, all stress values were under the mechanical stress values that would be dangerous for the implant or the bone [149]. Similarly, the FEA study of Almeida et al. concluded that tilting of distal implants by 45° has lead to a >30% and a ~50% increase in first principal stress values to the peri-implant bones of an atrophic maxilla under axial and oblique load, and >70% increase of von Mises stress values respectively, compared to vertical (0°) implants [150].

In addition to working with non-osseointegrated samples, several limitations our study need to be acknowledged: firstly, the bending forces applied in our tests would occur only in extreme cases in clinical circumstances, and the direction of the loads were dissimilar to those of the masticatory forces; however, the cyclicity and the magnitudes of forces involved were in accordance with physiologically observable movements in mastication. As there was no abutment attached, the role and influence of implant–abutment connection in influencing bone mechanical properties and stress tolerance could not be assessed, the bone model was loaded directly. A further limitation of our research is that the applied protocol does not allow the implant-bone interface to be investigated in a direct way, unlike in 3D FEA studies.

Within its limitations, our study aimed to fill a gap in the literature, whether pre-drilling for implant nest preparation and/or implant placement has a negative effect on the mechanical properties of the jaw bone, which could have consequences in immediate outcomes (implant failure) or as long-term sequelae (pathological fractures). Our results showed that bone drilling has considerably impacted bone mechanical properties, which were in many cases, improved by implant placement, but never to the extent of the strength of the untreated bone. In addition, we have shown that inadequate oral hygiene, chronic conditions affecting the physiology of the oral cavity, smoking, and bruxism have a considerable aggravating role in enhancing marginal bone loss over time, increasing the risk for complications and implant failure. The data presented in this study may serve as a basis for additional experimental studies, in addition, it may also inform clinical decision-making in prosthodontics (especially in the case of restorations based on immediate loading) for debilitated patients with severely atrophic jaw bones.

VIII. NEW FINDINGS

a. Pre-drilling and implant-placement had detrimental effects on the mechanical strength of the bone against static load: numerical, but not statistically significant differences were seen in load-bearing capacity and toughness in pre-drilled and implanted bone, compared to untreated bone. Pre-drilled bones had the worse mechanical properties, while the placement of implants considerby increased mechanical strength.

b. Pre-drilling and implant-placement had detrimental effects on the mechanical strength of the bone against dynamic fatigue: significant differences were seen in load-bearing capacity in pre-drilled and implanted bone, compared to untreated bone. Pre-drilled bones had the worse mechanical properties, while implanted bone showed similar load-bearing capacity to untreated bone by the 9000th cycle.

c. Pre-drilling and implant-placement had increased the risk of fracture during loading: partial cracks were situated between the two middle implants, while fractures always occurred next to pre-drilled nests and the inserted implants.

d. The effect of patients' clinico-epidemiological correlates (controlled diabetes mellitus, mild bruxism, impacted oral hygiene and smoking) on marginal bone loss after Ao4 implant treatment: in patients presenting with underlying conditions/habits, numerical, but not statistically significant differences were seen for higher bone loss rates in the maxilla and mandibular bone after 18 months, 30 months and 42 months of follow-up.

IX. SUMMARY

Edentulism has a considerable negative impact for esthetic and functional aspects for patients; thus, it should be managed through prosthetic rehabilitation using fixed or removable prostheses. Implants are used as a framework to transfer functional and parafunctional stresses generated during mastication onto peri-implant tissues, and to allow for the introduction of a restoration, which may be according to an an immediate-loading or delayed-loading concept. The All-on-FourTM (Ao4) concept – introduced by Maló and colleagues – requires four implants are applied in the anterior part of completely edentulous jaws to support provisional, fixed, and immediately loaded prosthesis, which allows the avoidance of complicated surgical procedures. Implant placement requires clinicians to utilize the remaining bone in the most efficient way possible in view of the severity of the involution. In addition, in patients with limited bone supply, whom are affected by other underlying conditions and/or other parafunctional habits, marginal bone loss (MBL) over time may have severe consequences for secondary implant stability and threaten long-term implant survival. Thus, the aims of our present study were to: *i*) simulate implant placement according to the Ao4 protocol and immediate loading, to assess whether drilling and implant placement had harmful effects on the bone (and to investigate the risk of pathological fractures) in an in vitro study using a porcine rib model; ii) assess the influence of various clinico-epidemiological correlates on the rate of MBL in a retrospective single-center experience, following the implantation of distally tilted implants according to the Ao4 concept, evaluated by radiographic findings. Porcine bone samples were randomly divided into three groups (Groups 1: implanted group; Group 2: pre-drilled group; Group 3: control group). Each group was randomly divided into two parts to carry out the mechanical testing (static and dynamic fatigue) protocols. While in the static load tests, the differences in force values and toughness were only numerical (not statistically significant), in the dynamic fatigue tests, significant differences were shown between the three bone groups; upon more careful analysis, it was observed that pre-drilled bone had considerably worse mechanical properties compared to Group 1 and 3, on the other hand the control and implanted bone samples presented with very similar mechanical properties by the 9000th cycle (as demonstrated by the similar course of the force curves). Our results highlighted that placement of the holes via pre-drilling considerably reduced the stiffness and mechanical strength of the bone, which has led to macroscopic fractures even at smaller deformations. Bone drilling has considerably impacted bone mechanical properties, which were in many cases, improved by implant placement, but never to the extent of the strength of the untreated bone. The data presented in this study may serve as a basis for additional experimental studies, in addition, it may also inform clinical decision-making in prosthodontics for debilitated patients with severely atrophic jaw bones. In addition, we have shown that inadequate oral hygiene, chronic conditions affecting the physiology of the oral cavity, smoking, and bruxism have a considerable aggravating role in enhancing marginal bone loss over time, increasing the risk for complications and implant failure.

X. ÖSSZEFOGLALÓ

A fogatlanság esztétikai és funkcionális szempontból is jelentős negatív hatást gyakorol a paciensek életminőségére, protetikai rehabilitációja rögzített vagy kivehető fogpótlásokkal történhet. Az implantátumok vázként szolgálnak a rágás során keletkező funkcionális és parafunkcionális stressz periimplantáris szövetekre történő átvitelében, illetve lehetővé teszik a restaurátum viselését, amely lehet azonnali, vagy késleltetett terhelésű. Az All-on-FourTM (Ao4) koncepció – amely megalkotása Maló és munkatársai nevéhez fűződik - négy implantátum beültetését kívánja meg a teljesen fogatlan állcsontok elülső részén ideiglenes, rögzített és azonnal terhelt protézisek elhorgonyzására, mely révén elkerülhetők a bonyolult regeneratív sebészeti eljárások. Az implantátum beültetése a klinikusoktól megköveteli, hogy a megmaradt csontot a lehető leghatékonyabban használják fel, szem előtt tartva az involúció súlyosságát. Ezenkívül a korlátozott csontellátottságú, más alapbetegségek és/vagy egyéb parafunkciós szokások által érintett betegek esetében a marginális csontvesztés (MBL) idővel súlyos következményekkel járhat a másodlagos implantátum stabilitására nézve, és veszélyeztetheti az implantátum hosszú távú túlélését. Jelen vizsgálatunk céljai ezért a következők voltak: i) az Ao4 protokoll szerinti implantátum beültetés és azonnali terhelés szimulálása, annak felmérése, hogy az előfúrás és az implantátum beültetése káros hatással vane a csontra (patológiás törések kockázatának vizsgálata) in vitro vizsgálatban, sertés borda modell segítségével; ii) a különböző klinikai-epidemiológiai összefüggések hatásának értékelése az MBL arányára egy retrospektív egyközpontú kísérletben, az Ao4 koncepció szerinti distalisan döntött implantátumok beültetését követően, radiológiai módszerekkel értékelve. A sertés csontmintákat véletlenszerűen három csoportra osztottuk (1. csoport: implantált csoport; 2. csoport: előfúrt csoport; 3. csoport: kontrollcsoport). Minden csoportot véletlenszerűen két részre osztottunk a mechanikai vizsgálati (statikus és dinamikus fárasztási) protokollok elvégzéséhez. Míg a statikus terheléses vizsgálatok során az erőértékek és a szívósság között csak tendenciózus különbségeket véltünk felfedezni (statisztikailag nem szignifikánsak), addig a dinamikus fárasztási vizsgálatok során jelentős különbségek mutatkoztak a három mintacsoport között; alaposabb elemzés után megfigyelhető volt, hogy az előfúrt csontok az 1. és 3. csoporthoz képest jelentősen rosszabb mechanikai tulajdonságokkal rendelkeztek, másrészt a kontroll és a implantált csontminták a 9000. ciklusra nagyon hasonló mechanikai tulajdonságokat mutattak (amit az erőgörbék hasonló lefutása is bizonyít). Eredményeink rávilágítottak arra, hogy az előfúrás során készített fészkek jelentősen csökkentették a csont merevségét és mechanikai szilárdságát, ami már kisebb deformációk esetén is makroszkópos törésekhez vezetett. A csontok előfúrása jelentősen befolyásolta azok mechanikai tulajdonságait, amelyek sok esetben javultak az implantátumok behelyezésével, de soha nem érték el a kezeletlen csont szilárdságának mértékét. A tanulmányban bemutatott adatok további kísérletes vizsgálatok alapjául szolgálhatnak, továbbá a súlyos atrófia miatt meggyengült állcsontú páciensek esetében a megfelelő protetikai terv felállítását is elősegíthetik. Mindezek mellett kimutattuk, hogy a nem megfelelő szájhigiénia, a szájüreg fiziológiáját befolyásoló krónikus állapotok, a dohányzás és a bruxizmus jelentős mértékben növeli a marginális csontvesztést, ami idővel növeli a szövődmények és az implantátum vesztés kockázatát.

XI. REFERENCES

1. Kassebaum NJ, Smith AGC, Bernabé E, Fleming TD, Reynolds AE, Vos T, Murray CJL, Marcenes W, GBD 2015 Oral Health Collaborators. Global, Regional, and National Prevalence, Incidence, and Disability-Adjusted Life Years for Oral Conditions for 195 Countries, 1990– 2015: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors. J Dent Res 2017;96:380–387.

2. Al-Rafee MA. The epidemiology of edentulism and the associated factors: A literature Review. J Fam Med Prim Care 2020;9:1841-1843.

3. Jahangiri L, Choi M, Moghadam M, Jawad S. Interventions for missing teeth: Removable prostheses for the edentulous mandible. Cochrane Datab Syst Rev 2021;2021:CD011544.

4. Global oral health status report: towards universal health coverage for oral health by 2030. Available online: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240061484 (Accessed on the 25th of April, 2023).

5. Watt RG, Daly B, Allison P, Macpherson LMD, Venturelli R, Listl S, Weyant RJ, Mathur MR, Guarnizo-Herreno CC, Celeste RK, Peres MA, Kearns C, Benzian H. Ending the neglect of global oral health: time for radical action. Lancet. 2019;394:261–72.

6. Allegrini S, Koening B, Allergrini MRF, Yoshimoto M, Gedrange T, Fanghaenerel J, LipskM. Alveolar ridge sockets preservation with bone grafting—review. Ann Acad Med Stetin 2008;54:70-81.

7. Schroeder HE. The periodontium. In: Oksche A, Vollrath L, editors. Handbook of Microscopic Anatomy. Berlin: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 1986. p. 233–46.

8. Pietrokovski J, Massler M. Alveolar ridge resorption following tooth extraction. J Prosthet Dent 1967;17:21-27.

9. Johnson K. A study of the dimensional changes occurring in the maxilla following tooth extraction. Aust Dent J. 1969;14:241-244.

10. Scrhopp L, Wenzel A, Kostopoulos L, Karring T. Bone healing and soft tissue contour changes following single-tooth extraction: a clinical and radiographic 12-month prospective study. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2003;23:313-323.

11. Reich KM, Huber CD, Lippnig WR, Ulm C, Watzek G, Tangl US. Atrophy of the residual alveolar ridge following tooth loss in an historical population. Oral Dis 2011;71:33-44.

12. Tyrovola JB. The "Mechanostat Theory" of Frost and the OPG/RANKL/RANK System. J Cell Biochem 2015;116:2724-2729.

13. Reddy MS, Geurs NC, Wang IC, Liu PR, Hsu YT, Jeffcoat RL, Jeffcoat MK. Mandibular growth following implant restoration: does Wolff's law apply to residual ridge resorption? Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2002;22:315-321.

14. Tadic A, Bajkin B, Mijatov I, Mirnic J, Vukoje K, Sokac M, Vukelic D. Influence of L-PRF Topical Application on Bone Tissue Healing after Surgical Extraction of Impacted Mandibular Third Molars: Randomized Split-Mouth Clinical Study. Appl Sci 2023;13:e4823.

15. Cardapoli G, Araújo MG, Lindhe J. Dynamics of bone tissue formation in tooth extraction sites. An experimental study in dogs. J Clin Periodontol 2003;30:809-818.

16. Araújó MG, Lindhe J. Dimensional ridge alterations following tooth extraction. An experimental study in the dog. J Clin Periodontol 2005;32:212-218.

17. Hansson S, Halldin A. Alveolar ridge resorption after tooth extraction: A consequence of a fundamental principle of bone physiology. J Dent Biomech 2012;3:e1758736012456543.

18. Atwood AD. Reduction of residual ridges: a major oral disease entity. J Prosthet Dent 1971;26:266-279.

19. Tallgren A. The continuing reduction of the residual alveolar ridges in complete denture wearers: A mixed-longitudinal study covering 25 years. J Prosthet Dent 1972;27:120–32.

20. Pelo S, Boniello R, Moro A, Gasparini G, Amoroso PF. Augmentation of the atrophic edentulous mandible by a bilateral two-step osteotomy with autogenous bone graft to place osseointegrated dental implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2010;39:227-234.

21. Kovacic I, Zlatarric DK, Celebic A. Residual ridge atrophy in complete denture wearers and relationship with densitometric values of a cervical spine: a hierarchical regression analysis. Gerodontology 2012;29:e935-e947.

22. Juodzbalys G, Kubilius M. Clinical and Radiological Classification of the Jawbone Anatomy in Endosseous Dental Implant Treatment. J Oral Maxillofac Res 2013;4:e2.

23. Lekholm U, Zarb GA. Patient selection and preparation. In: Branemark PI, Zarb GA, Albrektsson T, editors. Tissue integrated prostheses: osseointegration in clinical dentistry. Chicago: Quintessence Publishing Company; 1985. p. 199–209.

24. Weiner S, Wagner HD. The material bone: structure mechanical function relations. Annu Rev Mater Sci 1998;28:271–298.

25. Misch CE. Bone density: A key determinant for clinical success. In: Misch CE., (eds.) Contemporary Implant Dentistry. 2nd edition. St Louis: CV Mosby Company; 1999. p. 109–18.

26. Narciso R, Basile E, Bottini DJ, Cervelli V. PEEK Implants: An Innovative Solution for Facial Aesthetic Surgery. Case Rep Surg. 2021;2021:e5518433.

27. Mimche S, Ahn D, Kiani M, Elahi H, Murray K, Easley K, Sokoloff A, Ghovanloo M. Tongue implant for assistive technologies: Test of migration, tissue reactivity and impact on tongue function. Arch Oral Biol 2016;71:1-9.

28. Brunello DL, Mandikos MN. Construction faults, age, gender, and relative medical health:
Factors associated with complaints in complete denture patients. J Prosthet Dent 1998;79:545–54.

29. Dhar V. Evidence-based dentistry: An overview. Contemp Clin Dent 2016;7:293-294.

30. Wang J, An YX, Shi YL, Liu LP, Zhao YQ, Wu F, Wei HB. A digital workflow to predict facial aesthetics in patients with maxillofacial trauma with implant retained prostheses. J Prosthodont Res 2023; doi: 10.2186/jpr.JPR D 22 00112. Online ahead of print.

31. González-Carrasco JL. Metals as bone repair materials. In: Bone repair biomaterial (Chapter: 5). Publisher: Woodhealing Publishing Limited. Editors: Planell J, Best S, Lacroix D, Merolli A, 2009.

32. Kirmanidou Y, Sidira M, Drosou ME, Bennani V, Bakopoulou A, Tsouknidas A, Michailidis N, Michailidis K. New Ti-Alloys and Surface Modifications to Improve the Mechanical Properties and the Biological Response to Orthopedic and Dental Implants: A Review. BioMed Res Int 2016;2016:e2908570.

33. Lee DJ, Saponaro PC. Management of Edentulous Patients. Dent Clin North Am 2019;63:249-61.

34. Zincir ÖÖ, Parlar A. Comparison of stresses in monoblock tilted implants and conventional angled multiunit abutment-implant connection systems in the all-on-four procedure. BMC Oral Health 2021;21:e646.

35. Clavero J, Lundgren. Ramus or chin grafts for maxillary sinus inlay and local onlay augmentation: comparison of donor site morbidity and complications. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2003;5:154-160.

36. van der Weijden F, Dell'Acqua F, Slot DE. Alveolar bone dimensional changes of post-extraction sockets in humans: a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol 2009;36(12):1048–1058.
37. Trisi P, Rao W. Bone classification: clinical-histomorphometric comparison. Clin Oral Implants Res 1999;10:1–7.

38. Kuchler U, von Arx T. Horizontal Ridge Augmentation in Conjunction with or Prior to Implant Placement in the Anterior Maxilla: A Systematic Review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2014;29:14–24.

39. Karlis V, Bae RD, Glickman RS. Mandibular fracture as a complication of inferior alveolar nerve transposition and placement of endosseous implants: a case report. Implant Dent 2003;12:211-216.

40. Almasri M, El-Hakim M. Fracture of the anterior segment of the atrophic mandible related to dental implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2012;41:646–649.

41. Branemark PI. Osseointegration and its experimental background. J Prosthet Dent 1983;50:399-410.

42. Branemark R, Branemark PI, Rydevik B, Myers RR. Osseointegration in skeletal reconstruction and rehabilitation. J Rehab Res Dev 2001;38:e382.

43. Albrektsson T, Branemark PI, Hansson HA, Lindström J. Osseointegrated Titanium Implants: Requirements for Ensuring a Long-Lasting, Direct Bone-to-Implant Anchorage in Man. Acta Orthop Scand 2009;52:155–70.

44. Parithimarkalaignan S, Padmanabhan TV. Osseointegration: an update. J Indian Prosthodont Soc 2013;13:2-6.

45. Jayesh RS, Dhinakarsamy V. Osseointegration. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 2015;7:S226-S229.

46. Urbán IA, Saleh MHA, Andrea R, András F, Wang HL, Baráth Z. Vertical bone augmentation utilizing a titanium-reinforced PTFE mesh: A multi-variate analysis of influencing factors. Clin Oral Implants Res 2021;32:828-839.

47. Oh SL, Shiau HJ, Reynolds MA. Survival of dental implants at sites after implant failure: A systematic review. J Prosthetic Dent 2020;123:54-60.

48. Rebelo CG, Fernandes JCH, Bernardo N, Couto P, Fernandes GVF. Bisphosphonates and Their Influence on the Implant Failure: A Systematic Review. Appl Sci 2023;13:e3496.

49. Tachibana R, Motoyoshi M, Shinohara A, Shigeeda T, Shimizu N. Safe placement techniques for self-drilling orthodontic mini-implants. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2012;41:1439–1444.

50. Eriksson AR, Albertsson T, Albertsson B. Heat caused by drilling cortical bone. Temperature measured in vivo in patients and animals. Acta Orthop Scand 1984;55:629-631.

51. Boffano P, Roccia F, Gallesio C, Berrone S. Pathological mandibular fractures: a review of the literature of the last two decades. Dent Traumatol 2013;29:185-196.

52. Frota R, Linard RA, de Oliviera e Silva E, Antunes AA, Carvalho RWF, Santo TS. Mandibular osteomyelitis and fracture in a patient with pyknodysostosis. J Craniofac Surg 2010;21:787-789.

53. Oh HK, Chambers MS, Martin MS, Martin JW, Lim HJ, Park JH. Osteoradionecrosis of the mandible: treatment outcomes and factors influencing the progress of osteoradionecrosis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;67:1378-1386.

54. Marx RE. Reconstruction of defects caused by bisphosphonate-induced osteonecrosis of the jaws. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;67:107-119.

55. Werkmeister R, Fillies T, Joos U, Smolka K. Relationship between lower wisdom tooth position and cyst development, deep abscess formation and mandibular angle fracture. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2005;33(3):164–8.

56. Pandey M, Rao LP, Das SR. Predictors of mandibular involvement in cancers of the oromandibular region. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;67(5):1069–73.

57. Khodayari A, Khojasteh A. Mandibular pathologic fracture as a first sign of disseminated angiosarcoma: A case report and review of literatures. Oral Oncology Extra 2005;41:178–182.

58. Libersa P, Roze D, Cachart T, Libersa JC. Immediate and late mandibular fractures after third molar removal. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2002;60(2):163–165.

59. Coletti D, Ord RA. Treatment rationale for pathological fractures of the mandible: a series of 44 fractures. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2008;37:215–222.

60. O'Sullivan D, King P, Jagger D. Osteomyelitis and pathological mandibular fracture related to a late implant failure: A clinical report. J Prosthet Dent 2006;95:106–110.

61. Mason ME, Gilbert Triplett R, van Sickels JE, Parel SM. Mandibular fractures through endosseous cylinder implants: Report of cases and review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1990;48:311–317.

62. Toma VS, Mathog RH, Toma RS, Meleca RJ. Transoral versus extraoral reduction of mandible fractures: A comparison of complication rates and other factors. Otolaryngology Head Neck Surg 2003;128:215–219.

63. Mura P. Immediate loading of tapered implants placed in postextraction sockets: retrospective analysis of the 5-year clinical outcome. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2012;14:565-574.

64. Degidi M, Nardi D, Piattelli A. 10-year follow-up of immediately loaded implants with TiUnite porous anodized surface. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2012; 14(6):828-838.

65. Gelb DA. Immediate implant surgery: Three year retrospective evaluation of 50 consecutive cases. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1993;8:e388.

66. Schnitman PA, Wohrle PS, Rubenstein JE. Immediate fixed interim prostheses supported by two-stage threaded implants: methodology and results. Int J Oral Implantol 1990;16:96–105.

67. Van der Weijden F, Dell'Acqua F, Slot DE. Alveolar bone dimensional changes of postextraction sockets in humans: A systematic review. J Clin Periodontol 2009;36:1048–1058.

68. Hof M, Tepper G, Semo B, Arnhart C, Watzek G, Pommer B. Patients' perspectives on dental implant and bone graft surgery: questionnaire-based interview survey. Clin Oral Implants Res 2014;25:42-45.

69. Taruna M, Chittarajan B, Sudheer N, Tella S, Abusaad Md. Prosthodontic Perspective to All-On-4® Concept for Dental Implants. J Clin Diagn Res 2014;8:ZE16–ZE19.

70. Li J, Jansen JA, Walboomers XF, van den Beucken JJJP. Mechanical aspects of dental implants and osseointegration: A narrative review. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2020;103:e103574.

71. Steigenga JT, al-Shammari KF, Nociti FH, Misch CE, Wang HL. Dental implant design and its relationship to long-term implant success. Implant Dent 2003;12:306-317.

72. Romanos GE. Bone quality and the immediate loading of implants-critical aspects based on literature, research, and clinical experience. Implant Dent 2009;18:203-209.

73. Vogl S, Stopper M, Hof M, Theisen K, Wegscheider WA, Lorenzoni M. Immediate occlusal vs nonocclusal loading of implants: A randomized prospective clinical pilot study and patient centered outcome after 36 months. Clin Implant Dent Rel Res 2019;21:766-774.

74. Torroella-Saura G, Mareque-Bueno J, Cablatosa-Termes J, Hernandes-Alfaro F, Ferrés-Padró E, Calvo-Guirado JL. Effect of implant design in immediate loading. A randomized, controlled, split-mouth, prospective clinical trial. Clin Oral Implant Res 2015;26:240-244.

75. New Implant Design with Midcrestal and Apical Wing Thread for Increased Implant Stability in Single Postextraction Maxillary Implant. Case Rep Dent 2019;2019:e9529248.

76. Körtvélyessy G, Szabó ÁL, Pelsőczi-Kovács I, Tarjányi T, Tóth Z, Kárpáti K, Matusovits D, Hangyási DB, Baráth Z. Different Conical Angle Connection of Implant and Abutment Behavior: A Static and Dynamic Load Test and Finite Element Analysis Study. Materials 2023;16:e1988.

77. Ivanova V, Chenchev I, Zlatev S, Mijitisky E. Correlation between Primary, Secondary Stability, Bone Density, Percentage of Vital Bone Formation and Implant Size. Int J Environ Res Pub Health 2021;18:e6994.

 Brunski JB, Puleo DA, Nanci A. Biomaterials and biomechanics of oral and maxillofacial implants: current status and future developments. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2000;15:15-46. 79. Trisi P, Perfetti G, Baldoni E, Berardi D, Colagiovanni M, Scogna G. Implant micromotion is related to peak insertion torque and bone density. Clin Oral Implants Res 2009;20:467-471.

80. Malo P, Rangert B, Nobre M. "All-on-Four" immediate-function concept with Branemark System implants for completely edentulous mandibles: a retrospective clinical study. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2003;5:2–9.

81. Maló P, de Araujo Nobre M, Lopes I. A new approach to rehabilitate the severely atrophic maxilla using extramaxillary anchored implants in immediate function: A pilot study. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry. 2008;100:354–366.

82. AlShami A. Immediate Loading of a Single Implant in the Esthetic Zone. J Dent Oral Dis Ther 2016;4:1-7.

83. Soto-Penaloza D, Zaragozí-Alonso R, Penarrocha-Diago M, Penarrocha-Diago M. The allon-four treatment concept: Systematic review. J Clin Exp Dent 2017;9:e474-488.

84. Trisi P, Berardini M, Falco A, Vulpiani MP. Effect of Implant Thread Geometry on Secondary Stability, Bone Density, and Bone-to-Implant Contact: A Biomechanical and Histological Analysis. Implant Dent 2015;24:384-391.

85. Urban IA, Monje A. Guided Bone Regeneration in Alveolar Bone Reconstruction. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am 2019;31:331–338.

86. Cavalli N, Barbaro B, Spasari D, Azzola F, Ciatti A, Francetti L. Tilted Implants for Full-Arch Rehabilitations in Completely Edentulous Maxilla: A Retrospective Study. Int J Dent 2012;2012:e180379.

87. Metha SP, Sutariya PV, Pathan MR, Upadhyay HH, Patel SR, Kantharia NDG. Clinical success between tilted and axial implants in edentulous maxilla. A systematic review and metaanalysis. J Ind Prosthodont Soc 2021;21:217-228.

88. Rasouli R, Barhoum A, Uludag H. A review of nanostructured surfaces and materials for dental implants: surface coating, patterning and functionalization for improved performance. Biomater Sci 2018;6:1312–1338.

89. Fazi G, Tellini S, Vangi D, Branchi R. Three-dimensional finite element analysis of different implant configurations for a mandibular fixed prosthesis. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2011;26:752-759.

90. Bevilacqua M, Tealdo T, Pera F, Menini M, Mossolov A, Drago C, Pera P. Threedimensional finite element analysis of load transmission using different implant inclinations and cantilever lengths. Int J Prosthodont 2008;21:539–542.

91. Ochandiano S, García-Mato, Gonzalez-Alvarez A, Moreta-Martinez R, Tousidonis M, Navarro-Cuellar C, Navarro-Cuellar I, Salmerón JI, Pascau J. Computer-Assisted Dental

Implant Placement Following Free Flap Reconstruction: Virtual Planning, CAD/CAM Templates, Dynamic Navigation and Augmented Reality. Front Oncol 2022;11:e754943.

92. Atsumi M, Park SH, Wang HL. Methods used to assess implant stability: current status. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2007;22:743–754.

93. Trisi P, Rao W. Bone classification: clinical-histomorphometric comparison. Clin Oral Implants Res 1999;10:1–7.

94. Maló P, Araújo Nobre M de, Lopes A, Rodrigues R. Double Full-Arch Versus Single Full-Arch, Four Implant-Supported Rehabilitations: A Retrospective, 5-Year Cohort Study. Journal of Prosthodontics. 2015;24(4):263–270.

95. Szmukler-Moncler S, Salama H, Reingewirtz Y, Dubruille JH. Timing of loading and effect of micromotion on bone-dental implant interface: review of experimental literature. J Biomed Mat Res 1998;43:192-203.

96. Vollmer A, Saravi B, Lang G, Adolphs N, Hazard D, Giers V, Stoll P. Factors Influencing Primary and Secondary Implant Stability—A Retrospective Cohort Study with 582 Implants in 272 Patients. Appl Sci 2020;10:e8084.

97. Francetti L, Romeo D, Corbella S, Taschieri S, del Fabbro M. Bone level changes around axial and tilted implants in full-arch fixed immediate restorations. Interim results of a prospective study. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2012;14:646–654.

98. Agliardi EL, Pozzi A, Stappert CFJ, Benzi R, Romeo D, Gherlone E: Immediate fixed rehabilitation of the edentulous maxilla: a prospective clinical and radiological study after 3 years of loading. Clin Impl Dent Relat Res 2014;16:292-302.

99. Durkan R, Oyar P, Deste G. Maxillary and mandibular all-on-four implant designs: A review. Niger J Clin Pract 2019;22:1033–1040.

100. Patzelt SB, Bahat O, Reynolds MA, Strub JR. The all-on-four treatment concept: a systematic review. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2014;16:836-855.

101. Maló P, de Araújo Nobre M, Lopes A, Moss SM, Molina GJ. A longitudinal study of the survival of All-on-4 implants in the mandible with up to 10 Years of follow-up. J Am Dent Assoc 2011;142:310–320.

102. Cattoni F, Chirico L, Merlone A, Manacorda M, Vinci R, Gherlone EF. Digital Smile Designed Computer-Aided Surgery versus Traditional Workflow in "All on Four" Rehabilitations: A Randomized Clinical Trial with 4-Years Follow-Up. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18:e3449.

103. Darwich A, Alammar A, Heshmeh O, Szabolcs S, Nazha H. Fatigue Loading Effect in Custom-Made All-on-4 Implants System: A 3D Finite Elements Analysis. IRBM 2022;43:372-379.

104. Li J, Jansen JA, Walboomers XF, van den Beucken JJJP. Mechanical aspects of dental implants and osseointegration: A narrative review. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2020;103:e103574.

105. Shetty S, Pitti V, Babu CLS, Kumar GPS, Deepthi BC. Bruxism: A Literature Review. J Indian J Prosthodont 2010;10:141-148.

106. Dieterle MP, Husari A, Steinberg T, Wang X, Ramminger I, Tomakidi P. Role of Mechanotransduction in Periodontal Homeostasis and Disease. J Dent Res 2021;100:1210-1219.

107. Chrcanovic BR, Custódio ALN. Mandibular fractures associated with endosteal implants. Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;13:231-238.

108. Li J, Jansen JA, Walboomers XF, van den Beucken JJJP. Mechanical aspects of dental implants and osseointegration: A narrative review. J Mech Behav Biomed Mat 2020;103:e103574.

109. Lakatos É, Magyar L, Bojtár I. Material Properties of the Mandibular Trabecular Bone. J Med Engineering 2014;2014:e470539.

110. Applied Dental Materials, 9th Edition. John F. McCabe (Editor), Angus W. G. Walls (Editor). ISBN: 978-1-405-13961-8, 2008, pp. 320

111. Yang Y, Liu Y, Yuan X, Ren M, Chen X, Luo L, Zheng L, Liu Y. Three-dimensional finite element analysis of stress distribution on short implants with different bone conditions and osseointegration rates. BMC Oral Health 2023;23:e220.

112. Udomsawat C, Rungsiyakull P, Rungsiyakull C, Khongkhuthian P. Comparative study of stress characteristics in surrounding bone during insertion of dental implants of three different thread designs: A three-dimensional dynamic finite element study. Clin Exp Dent Res 2019;5:26-37.

113. Gupta A, Felton DA, Jemt T, Koka S. Rehabilitation of Edentulism and Mortality: A Systematic Review. J Prosthodont 2019;28:526–535.

114. Friberg B, Sennerby L, Roos J, Johansson P, Strid CG, Lekholm U. Evaluation of bone density using cutting resistance measurements and microradiography: an in vitro study in pig ribs. Clin Oral Implants Res 1995;6:164–171.

115. Kim SJ, Yoo J, Kim YS, Shin SW. Temperature change in pig rib bone during implant site preparation by low-speed drilling. J Appl Oral Sci 2010;18:522–527.

116. Szalma J, Lovász B V, Vajta L, Soós B, Lempel E, Möhlhenrich SC. The influence of the chosen in vitro bone simulation model on intraosseous temperatures and drilling times. Sci Rep 2019;9:e11817.

117. Lee SW, Kim SG. Membranes for the Guided Bone Regeneration. Maxillofac Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;36:239–246.

118. Zioupos P, Hansen U, Currey JD. Microcracking damage and the fracture process in relation to strain rate in human cortical bone tensile failure. J Biomech. 2008 Oct;41:2932–2939.

119. Ayagara AR, Langlet A, Hambli R. On dynamic behavior of bone: Experimental and numerical study of porcine ribs subjected to impact loads in dynamic three-point bending tests. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2019;98:336—347.

120. Sadeghi H, Espino DM, Shepherd DET. Fatigue strength of bovine articular cartilage-onbone under three-point bending: the effect of loading frequency. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2017;18:e142.

121. Mori S, Burr DB. Increased intracortical remodeling following fatigue damage. Bone 1993;14:103–119.

122. Daegling DJ, Hylander WL. Biomechanics of torsion in the human mandible. Am J Phys Anthropol 1998;105:73–87.

123. Seong WJ, Kim UK, Swift JQ, Heo YC, Hodges JS, Ko CC. Elastic properties and apparent density of human edentulous maxilla and mandible. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;38:1088—1093.

124. Anitua E, de Ibarra NLS, Martín IM, Rotaeche LS. Influence of Implant Tilting and Length on the Biomechanics of Single-Tooth Restoration: A Finite Element Analysis in Atrophic Mandible. Dent J 2022;10:e77.

125. Sadowsky SJ. The implant-supported prosthesis for the edentulous arch: design considerations. J Prosthet Dent 1997;78:28-33.

126. Cobo-Vázquez C, Reininger D, Molinero-Mourelle P, González-Serrano J, Guisano-MoyaB, López-Quiles J. Effect of the lack of primary stability in the survival of dental implants. JClin Exp Dent 2018;10:e14-e19.

127. Chatvaratthana K, Thaworanunta S, Seriwatanachai D, Wongsirichat N. Correlation between the thickness of the crestal and buccolingual cortical bone at varying depths and implant stability quotients. PLoS One 2017;12:e0190293.

128. Dutta SR, Passi D, Singh P, Atri M, Mohan S, Sharma A. Risks and complications associated with dental implant failure: Critical update. Natl J Maxillofac Surg 2020;11:14-19.

129. Sugiura T, Yamamato K, Horita S, Murakami K, Tsutsumi S, Kirita T. The effects of bone density and crestal cortical bone thickness on micromotion and peri-implant bone strain distribution in an immediately loaded implant: a nonlinear finite element analysis. J Periodontal Implant Sci 2016;46:152-165.

130. Howashi M, Tsukiyama Y, Ayukawa Y, Isoda-Akizuki K, Kihara M, Imai Y, Sogo M, Koyano K. Relationship between the CT Value and Cortical Bone Thickness at Implant Recipient Sites and Primary Implant Stability with Comparison of Different Implant Types. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2016;18:107–116.

131. Tettamanti L, Andrisani C, Bassi MA, Vinci R, Silvestre-Rangil J, Tagliabue A. Immediate loading implants: review of the critical aspects. Oral Implantol 2017;10:e129.

132. Esposito M, Grusovin MG, Maghaireh H, Worthington H V. Interventions for replacing missing teeth: different times for loading dental implants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013;2013:CD003878.

133. Chitumalla R, Kumari KVH, Mohaparta A, Parihar AS, Anand KS, Katragadda P. Assessment of Survival Rate of Dental Implants in Patients with Bruxism: A 5-year Retrospective Study. Contemp Clin Dent 2018;9:S278-S282.

134. Herzberg R, Dolev E, Schwartz-Arad D. Implant marginal bone loss in maxillary sinus grafts. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implant 2006;21:103–110.

135. Shah FA, Thomsen P, Palmquist A. Osseointegration and current interpretations of the bone-implant interface. Acta Biomaterialia 2019;84:1-15.

136. Rubo JH, Souza EAC. Finite element analysis of stress in bone adjacent to dental implants.J Oral Implantol 2008;34:248–255.

137. Reddy PM, Thumati P. A 3-D finite element analysis of strain around end osseous threaded and non-threaded implant-opposing natural teeth with regular occlusion and altered occlusion: An in vitro study. J Dent Implants 2014;4:53–61.

138. Liang R, Guo W, Qiao X, Wen H, Yu M, Tang W, Liu L, Wei Y, Tian W. Biomechanical analysis and comparison of 12 dental implant systems using 3D finite element study. Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin 2015;18:1340-1348.

139. Xiao JR, Li YF, Guan SM, Song L, Xu LX, Kong L. The Biomechanical Analysis of Simulating Implants in Function Under Osteoporotic Jawbone by Comparing Cylindrical, Apical Tapered, Neck Tapered, and Expandable Type Implants: A 3-Dimensional Finite Element Analysis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2011;69:E273-E281.

140. Körtvélyessy G, Tarjányi T, Baráth ZL, Minárovits J, Tóth Z. Bioactive coatings for dental implants: A review of alternative strategies to prevent peri-implantitis induced by anaerobic bacteria. Anaerobe 2021;70:e102404.

141. Moraschini V, Mourao CFAB, Montemezzi P, Kischinhevsky ICC, da Almeida DCF, Javid K, Shibli JA, Granjeiro JM, Calasans-Maia MD. Clinical Comparation of Extra-Short (4 mm) and Long (>8 mm) Dental Implants Placed in Mandibular Bone: A Systematic Review and Metanalysis. Healthcare 2021;9:e315.

142. Fernandes G, Costa B, Trinidade HF, Castilho RM, Fernandes J. Comparative analysis between extra-short implants (≤ 6 mm) and 6 mm-longer implants: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trial. Australian Dent J. 2022;67:194-211.

143. Pearce AI, Richards RG, Milz S, Schneider E, Pearce SG. Animal models for implant biomaterial research in bone: a review. Eur Cell Mater 2007;13:1-10.

144. Geng JP, Tan KB, Liu GR. Application of finite element analysis in implant dentistry: a review of the literature. J Prosthet Dent 2001;85:585-598.

145. Dos Santos MBF, Meloto GO, Bacchi A, Correr-Sobrinho L. Stress distribution in cylindrical and conical implants under rotational micromovement with different boundary conditions and bone properties: 3-D FEA. Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Eng 2017;20:893–900.

146. Horita S, Sugiura T, Yamamoto K, Murakami K, Imai Y, Kirita T. Biomechanical analysis of immediately loaded implants according to the "All-on-Four" concept. J Prosthodont Res 2017;61:123–132.

147. Liu T, Mu Z, Yu T, Wang C, Huang Y. Biomechanical comparison of implant inclinations and load times with the all-on-4 treatment concept: a three-dimensional finite element analysis. Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin 2019;22:585–594.

148. Hajizadeh F, Kermani ME, Sadafsaz M, Motlagh AM. Evaluation of Stress and Strain Magnitude in Tapered and Cylindrical Implant Surrounding Bone, Used for Restoration of Mandibular Teeth: Finite Element Analysis in All-on-Four Concept. J Long Term Eff Med Implants 2021;31(4):51–58.

149. Sannino G. All-on-4 concept: a 3-dimensional finite element analysis. J Oral Implantol 2015;41:163–171.

150. Almeida EO, Rocha EP, Freitas AMJ, Anchieta RB, Poveda R, Gupta N, Coelho PG. Tilted and short implants supporting fixed prosthesis in an atrophic maxilla: A 3D-FEA biomechanical evaluation. Clin Impl Dent Related Res 2015;17:e332-42.

XII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank **Professor Zoltán Baráth** for his belief in me and my ability to complete this thesis and the support and knowledge which guided me over the last period of my career.

I am grateful for **Dr. Zsolt Tóth, Dr. Nándor Tamás Práger** and **Tamás Tarjányi** for their support during the static and dynamic fatigue measurements, as well as **Dr. Csaba Lászlófy** and **Dr. Árpád Szabó** for their professional collaboration in the retrospective clinical study.

The presented research could not have been performed without the help of the team of ICX **Hungary Kft.** I would like to express my thank to **Edit Kiss-Szilágyi** for their support with both material and professional contributions.

I would like to acknowledge the support of **Dr. Márió Gajdács** and the Study Group for Dental Research Methodology and Health Sciences, University of Szeged.

I would like to thank to my honest friend **Dr. Endre Solymossy** for guiding me in the field of dentistry and for his wise advices when they were needed the most.

I am grateful for my beloved **Dr. Dóra Kovács** not just for having her by my side, supporting me and my ideas, but also for her assistance with the language editing.

I would like to thank for the support provided by my family throughout my life, especially to my mother **Éva Ágnes Dudás**, who always stood by me and provided me the opportunity to reach my goals in my life.

Co-author certification

I, Zoltán Lajos Baráth. Ph.D. Habil. Prof. as a corresponding author of the following publications declare that the authors have no conflict of interest, and Ádám László Nagy, D.M.D. Ph.D. candidate had significant contribution to the jointly published researches. The results discussed in his thesis were not used and not intended to be used in any other qualification process for obtaining a Ph.D. degree.

Szeged, 2023.06.05.

Zoltán Lajos Baráth. Ph.D. Habil. Prof.

The publication(s) relevant to the applicant's thesis:

I. <u>Nagy ÁL</u>, Tóth Z, Tarjányi T, Práger NT, Baráth ZL: Biomechanical properties of the bone during implant placement. *BMC Oral Health* 2021; 21(1): e86.

II. Szabó ÁL, <u>Nagy ÁL</u>, Lászlófy C, Gajdács M, Bencsik P, Kárpáti K, Baráth ZL: Distally Tilted Implants According to the All-on-Four[®] Treatment Concept for the Rehabilitation of Complete Edentulism: A 3.5-Year Retrospective Radiographic Study of Clinical Outcomes and Marginal Bone Level Changes. *Dent J* 2022; 10(5): e82.

PUBLICATIONS

I.

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Open Access

Biomechanical properties of the bone during implant placement



Ádám László Nagy^{1*}, Zsolt Tóth², Tamás Tarjányi², Nándor Tamás Práger¹ and Zoltán Lajos Baráth¹

Abstract

Background: In this research the biomechanical properties of a bone model was examined. Porcine ribs are used as experimental model. The objective of this research was to investigate and compare the biomechanical properties of the bone model before and after implant placement.

Methods: The bone samples were divided in three groups, Group 1 where ALL-ON-FOUR protocol was used during pre-drilling and placing the implants, Group 2 where ALL-ON-FOUR protocol was used during pre-drilling, and implants were not placed, and Group 3 consisting of intact bones served as a control group. Static and dynamic loading was applied for examining the model samples. Kruskal–Wallis statistical test and as a post-hoc test Mann–Whitney U test was performed to analyze experimental results.

Results: According to the results of the static loading, there was no significant difference between the implanted and original ribs, however, the toughness values of the bones decreased largely on account of predrilling the bones. The analysis of dynamic fatigue measurements by Kruskal–Wallis test showed significant differences between the intact and predrilled bones.

Conclusion: The pre-drilled bone was much weaker in both static and dynamic tests than the natural or implanted specimens. According to the results of the dynamic tests and after a certain loading cycle the implanted samples behaved the same way as the control samples, which suggests that implantation have stabilized the skeletal bone structure.

Keywords: Biomechanics, Dental implant(s), Fixed and removable prosthodontics, Implant dentistry/implantology, Jaw biomechanics, Oral and maxillofacial surgery

Background

With the development of dentistry, the aesthetic and functional expectations of patients are also increasing. They anticipate fixed dentures even in total edentulous state. These expectations are challenging for the dentist, especially in cases with severe atrophy of the alveolar ridge, which is particularly complicated, when the teeth have been extracted long time ago. The possible treatment options which allow us to deliver fixed

*Correspondence: d.nagyadam@gmail.com

¹ Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, University

of Szeged, Tisza Lajos Krt. 64-64, 6720 Szeged, Hungary

high degree of patient satisfaction, requires to utilize the remaining bone in the most efficient way possible in view of the severity of the involution. The implant placement is usually impossible without guided regeneration surgery [1] in case of elderly people, who typically have D1 quality bone with *high degree of* cortical bone volume [2]. The guided bone regeneration procedure [3] carries high risk of patient morbidity and complications. To avoid the extensive bone augmentation procedure [4, 5] due to the advanced involution, the ALL-ON-FOUR protocol was introduced by Maló [5, 6]. According to this concept, the fixed and immediately loaded prosthesis is supported by four implants in the anterior part of the complete

implant-supported dental prosthesis and to achieve a



© The Author(s) 2021. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

edentulous jaw. The two posterior implants are placed in the interforaminal region, angled, to minimize the cantilever length; the two anterior placed axially, parallel to each other [7]. Both finite analysis and retrospective studies [5] suggest that implants placed this way could be a good alternative, which can safely support the fixed dentures. No clinically significant differences in success rates were found between these methods [8].

An idea presents itself that the mechanical properties of the mandible could be affected by the procedure of pre-drilling and then, substituting the space with a different characteristic material. In this study the possibility that drilling and implant placement could weaken the jawbone against masticatory forces was examined. If this process affects the biomechanical properties, the possibility of three-dimensional torsion deformation of the mandible has to be considered [9, 10]. It was also investigated whether it represents a risk of pathological fractures for the patient, considering the fact that the implants placed with ALL-ON-FOUR protocol are being immediately loaded with the provisional or definitive full-arch prosthesis in 48 h after surgery [5, 11]. The possibility of these deformations and micromovements can be recognized as a deleterious phenomenon during osseointegration [12], however, according to the experimental models of several authors, these micromovements were not proven to be harmful [13].

The basic hypothesis is that the implant placement weakens the biomechanical properties of the bone structure. Our objective is to investigate and compare the mechanical properties of the ribs, before and after implant placement.

Methods

Fresh, non-frozen, young domestic porcine ribs with soft parts (periosteum, attached muscles, fascia, fat) were obtained from an abattoir. The excess soft parts were removed with a sharp scalpel, however care was taken to ensure that the periosteum was left intact. The main reason for the selection of porcine ribs was the excellent homogeneity and thickness of cortical bone [14] which is similar to a human mandible [15, 16]. The animals were not sacrificed for the purpose of the experiment. The dimensions of the ribs were measured with an analog dial caliper (0.01 mm, Hoffmann Gruppe AK600203). The average length, width and height of the bones were 117.1 mm, 13.4 mm and 9.8 mm, respectively. The average value and standard error of the cortical bone thickness was 2.13 mm \pm 0.08 mm. The porcine ribs were randomly divided into three groups. In the first group (Group 1, n = 17) the implants were placed according to the ALL-ON-FOUR protocol: two implants were placed parallel medially (ICX TEMPLANT 4.1 mm \times 10 mm, WS-75L surgical contra-angle handpiece, Implantmed Classic SI-923 physiodispenser, W&H, Bürmoos, Austria), and two tilted implants were inserted laterally (ICX TEM-PLANT 4.1 mm \times 15 mm). In the second group (Group 2, n = 16) the nests of the implants were pre-drilled (WS-75L surgical contra-angle handpiece, Implantmed Classic SI-923 physiodispenser, W&H, Bürmoos, Austria) for the same type and size of implant, but left empty without implant placement. During pre-drilling and placing the implants, the manufacturer's recommendations and the rules of the profession were kept in mind. No intervention was taken on the ribs in the control group (Group 3 n = 18).

For the mechanical testing, each group was randomly divided into two parts. Half of the samples were tested with a static tensile and compression materials testing machine /Tinnius Olsen H5KT Atec, USA/, while the other half were placed under fatigue test by an All-*Electric* Dynamic Test Instrument (Instron ElectroPulsTM E3000, USA) [17].

For the mechanical testing 3-point bending tests were performed, which are most widely accepted for fracture testing [18-21]. Mechanical components were manufactured individually that could be applied for both the static and dynamic equipment. The devices thus became suitable for performing 3-point bending tests (Fig. 1).

During the static load measurements, the bending deformation was increasing steadily on the bones. The according force was measured, digitized. The equipment recorded the position of the crosshead and the measured force. The maximum deformation was



Fig. 1 Experimental layout. a Supporting platform with point support rollers; b pork rib segment; c pressure head of the mechanical tear / break device with the roller used for point loading.
d distance between support points (standard 40 mm). e vector of the force acting on the bone segment

10 mm, which was reached in 5 s. During the measurement an automatic halt was actuated, when the device observed a sudden decrease in the force.

The other part of the samples was examined by a dynamic fatigue test. The dynamic test followed the arrangement of three point bending fatigue measurements. [22, 23]. Prior to the dynamic tests, the stiffness of each rib was determined by measuring the force-deflection curve between 0.2 and 0.8 mm deflection. After this process the fatigue test was performed on the samples, where the initial deflection was set to 2 mm, which was reached in 5 s. The fatigue test was performed in deflection with 20 Hz frequency at 0.5 mm deflection amplitude over 10.000 cycle. At the end of the fatigue process the load was decreased to 0 N in 5 s.

Shapiro–Wilk test was performed to validate the normality of distribution of the measured data. Kruskal– Wallis non-parametric test was used to compare the different groups' measured force values and as post-hoc tests the Mann–Whitney U non-parametric statistical tests were used. The significance level in these tests were set to 5% (p<0.05). SPSS statistical software (version 25; IBM Co., Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analysis.

Results

Results of the static load test

The graph in Fig. 2 shows the measurement results of the static load tests: the first stage of the load-deflection curve can be described as an almost straight increasing line, which represents the flexible range of the rib. After the maximum force exerted, even a smaller force was sufficient for further deflection. Figure 3 shows the occurrence of the measured maximum force ranges: during the load the measured average forces values were higher on the control samples than on the drilled bones The mean of the maximum



force (and standard error) for the control samples was 298.9 ± 30.95 N, for the pre-drilled was 287.1 ± 25.93 N and 280.29 ± 27.51 N for the implanted group. We found no statistically significant difference between the groups (p = 0.979).

The area under the curves on the diagrams of Fig. 2 (S) describes a quantity, which correlates with the toughness of the ribs, and can be calculated with the following formula:

$$S = \int_{0}^{x^{1}} F(x) dx$$

Figure 4 shows the S values in Nmm registered during the test.

Mean S value was 1701.37 ± 166.335 Nmm in the control, 1175.77 ± 128.832 Nmm in the pre-drilled and 1235.56 ± 248.392 Nmm in the implanted group. There are no significant differences between the groups in the calculated S toughness related values (p=0.16, Kruskal–Wallis test).







Results of the dynamic fatigue test

To analyze the results of the dynamic fatigue tests the Kruskal–Wallis statistic test (control vs. 1, 2) was performed on the measured force values measured for maximum deflection (2.5 mm) at specified times (100th, 2000th, 9000th cycles). The results are shown in Fig. 5.

At the 100th cycle the average measured force values were: 0.5766 ± 0.033 kN in the control, 0.4030 ± 0.081 kN, in the pre-drilled, 0.4991 ± 0.073 kN in the implanted group. The statistical test showed significant differences for the measured values between the groups (p=0.014, Kruskal–Wallis test).

At the 2000th cycle the average measured force values were: 0.3896 ± 0.027 kN in the control, 0.2800 ± 0.056 kN, in the pre-drilled, 0.3530 ± 0.049 kN in the implanted group. The statistical test showed a significant difference for the measured values between the groups (p=0.015, Kruskal–Wallis test).

At the 9000th cycle the average values were: 0.2999 ± 0.015 kN in the control, 0.2227 ± 0.042 kN, in the pre-drilled, 0.2840 ± 0.042 kN in the implanted group. The statistical test showed a significant difference for the measured values between the groups (p=0.026, Kruskal–Wallis test).

The difference between the groups was tested with Mann–Whitney test. This showed a significant difference in the measured force values between the control and drilled ribs 100th cycle (p=0.001, Mann–Whitney U test), which difference remains consistent at the 2000th cycle (p=0.002, Mann–Whitney U test) and 9000th cycle (p=0.005, Mann–Whitney U test).

The measured force values in any of the cycles examined showed no statistical significant difference between the control and the implanted group (100th cycle p=0.243, 2000th cycle p=0.447, 9000th cycle p=0.72, Mann–Whitney U test), furthermore, the summary graph (Fig. 5) shows that they exhibit very similar force values from cycle 9000.

No significant difference was found between the drilled and implanted ribs in the post-hoc test at 100th cycle (p=0.33, Mann–Whitney U test) 2000th cycles (p=0.136, Mann–Whitney U test), at 9000th cycles (p=0.094, Mann–Whitney U test).

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine and discuss the deterioration of bone mechanical properties as a function of bending forces before and after implant placement in order to seek an answer to the question, whether implant placement can weaken the bone structure.

The three-point bending tests, reported in the literature, were performed only with intact bones [21, 28, 29] and not pre-drilled and implanted ones, as in this work.

Static load tests showed significant differences between the groups tested. In the case of intact bone samples, the load curves shown in Fig. 2 are continuous, and the sudden reduction in force associated with fractures is observed only over a large deformation of ~ 6.6 mm. The maximum force observed for the intact bones is in the range of 200–800 N with an average maximum force of 299 ± 31 N. Typically, the maximum force values were achieved with 1.5 to 3 mm deflection.

For the drilled samples, the resistance force maximum (170–390 N) decreased relative to the control samples, which is well observed in Fig. 2. Most measurements show single or gradual fractures in the 2.4–5 mm deflection range, well below the damage limit of the intact bones. The maximum force observed was 287 ± 26 N. The reduction of the damage limit clearly indicates the weakening of the bone's resistance to force, which is

partly due to the decrease in the effective bone thickness in the drilled region.

According to our static load tests, filling the pre-drilled nest with implants did not improve the mechanical resistance of the bones. For the implanted samples the maximum force measured was in the range 175–380 N, the mean maximum force decreased to 280 ± 28 N. The deflection values corresponding to the first partial fracture are in the range of 1.6–4.5 mm, which is smaller compared to the intact and drilled bone values. Partial cracks were observed between the two middle implants during the load. The appearance of a crack was often accompanied by a sound effect. The earlier cracks appear to be due to the fact that the holes are filled with harder material than the spongy bone, consequently local stresses at the implant-bone interface are exerted during loading.

If the local stress value is greater than the strength of the cortical bone, a crack appears [24], but the macroscopic fracture of the bone does not occur [25]. As the deflection increases, the force–deflection curve shows small breaks, indicating the appearance of new cracks. The local fractures provide stress relaxation, resulting in a higher deflection values for appearance of macroscopic fracture at 7.3–9.5 mm compared to the drilled bone. Due to this phenomenon, the toughness of the implanted specimens will be higher than that of the drilled specimens.

For fatigue tests, the same temporal function of deflection was applied throughout the experiments. To achieve the same deflection at a higher cycle number, a lower force was required for each sample, as shown in Fig. 5. Initially, the decrease in the force values is greater, and with higher cycle numbers, the reduction of the force slows down. This phenomenon shows the weakening of the mechanical structure due to bending cycles. Each cycle causes reduction of bone stiffness [26]. However, macroscopic fractures did not occur at the set deflection values and cycle numbers.

For all fatigue tests, the force required for a pre-set deflection was the highest for intact bone and the lowest for drilled bone. This significant weakening is due to the reduction of local bone volume.

In the case of implanted bones, the maximum force values for a given deflection are between the values of the intact and the drilled bone. Initially, the difference compared to intact bone is greater, but with a higher number of cycles this difference disappears.

Overall, the results of our mechanical examinations showed that the placement of the holes in the bone significantly reduces the stiffness and mechanical strength of the bone, which leads to the appearance of macroscopic fractures even at smaller deformations. The implants partially restore the integrity of the bone and increase the load-bearing capacity against the macroscopic fracture compared to the drilled samples. However, the implanted bone does not reach the mechanical strength of intact bone.

This topic was explored by finite element analysis, and many studies have been conducted on the relationship between the bone and implants under the All-onfour protocol. According to Sannino, distal implants placed at 15, 30, and 45 degrees, with a greater angle at the implant-bone interface, exert the greatest stress, but this mechanical stress value is still lower than what the implant and bone can withstand [27].

Our static load result shows that the toughness is less in the case of drilled bones but not statistically significant. The measured maximum force values also showed no statistically significant difference during the static load. However, during the fatigue load the drilled bones showed significant difference compared to the control samples. The control and the ALL-ON-FOUR implanted samples showed very similar measured force values after the 9000th cycle.

It is important to note that these measurements were performed on non-osseointegrated samples. In the event when osseointegration occurs, mechanical properties are expected to improve further. However, our experiment shows that local mechanical stresses appear at the bone-implant interface, which reduces the force required to cause fractures. A limitation of our study is that the bending forces applied in the tests occur only in extreme cases in clinical circumstances. However, the cyclicity and the magnitudes were in accordance with physiologically observable chewing movements. A further limitation of our research is that the applied protocol does not allow the implant-bone interface to be investigated in a direct way, unlike with the finite element analysis tests.

Conclusion

With the limitations of this in vitro ALL-ON-FOUR study, the pre-drilled bone was much weaker in both static and dynamic tests than the natural or implanted specimens. According to the results of the dynamic tests and after a certain loading cycle the implanted samples behaved the same way as the control samples, which suggests that implantation have stabilized the skeletal bone structure.

Acknowledgements

All authors gave their final approval and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Authors' contributions

ÁLN: Contributed to conception, acquisition, and interpretation, drafted the manuscript, gave final approval. Agrees to be accountable for all aspects of work ensuring integrity and accuracy. ZsT: Contributed to conception, drafted

the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript, gave final approval. Agrees to be accountable for all aspects of work ensuring integrity and accuracy. TT: Contributed to analysis, critically revised the manuscript, gave final approval. Agrees to be accountable for all aspects of work ensuring integrity and accuracy. NTP: Contributed to conception, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript, gave final approval. Agrees to be accountable for all aspects of work ensuring integrity and accuracy. NTP: Contributed to conception, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript, gave final approval. Agrees to be accountable for all aspects of work ensuring integrity and accuracy. ZLB: Contributed to conception, interpretation, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript, gave final approval. Agrees to be accountable for all aspects of work ensuring integrity and accuracy. All authors have read and approved the manuscript.

Funding

No funding.

Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹ Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Szeged, Tisza Lajos Krt. 64-64, 6720 Szeged, Hungary. ² Department of Experimental Dentistry and Oral Biology, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Szeged, Szeged, Hungary.

Received: 4 September 2020 Accepted: 14 February 2021 Published online: 25 February 2021

References

- Clavero J, Lundgren S. Ramus or chin grafts for maxillary sinus inlay and local onlay augmentation: comparison of donor site morbidity and complications. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2003;5(3):154–60.
- Trisi P, Rao W. Bone classification: clinical-histomorphometric comparison. Clin Oral Implants Res. 1999;10(1):1–7.
- Kuchler U, von Arx T. horizontal ridge augmentation in conjunction with or prior to implant placement in the anterior maxilla: a systematic review. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2014;29(Suppl):14–24.
- Urban IA, Monje A. Guided bone regeneration in alveolar bone reconstruction. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am. 2019;31(2):331–8.
- Malo P, Rangert B, Nobre M. "All-on-Four" immediate-function concept with Branemark System implants for completely edentulous mandibles: a retrospective clinical study. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2003;5(Suppl 1):2–9.
- Rasouli R, Barhoum A, Uludag H. A review of nanostructured surfaces and materials for dental implants: surface coating, patterning and functionalization for improved performance. Biomater Sci. 2018;6(6):1312–38.
- Bevilacqua M, Tealdo T, Pera F, Menini M, Mossolov A, Drago C, et al. Three-dimensional finite element analysis of load transmission using different implant inclinations and cantilever lengths. Int J Prosthodont. 2008;21(6):539–42.
- Malo P, de Araujo NM, Rangert B. Short implants placed one-stage in maxillae and mandibles: a retrospective clinical study with 1 to 9 years of follow-up. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2007;9(1):15–21.
- Daegling DJ, Hylander WL. Biomechanics of torsion in the human mandible. Am J Phys Anthropol. 1998;105(1):73–87.
- Seong W-J, Kim U-K, Swift JQ, Heo Y-C, Hodges JS, Ko C-C. Elastic properties and apparent density of human edentulous maxilla and mandible. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2009;38(10):1088–93.

- Maló P, de Araujo NM, Lopes I. A new approach to rehabilitate the severely atrophic maxilla using extramaxillary anchored implants in immediate function: a pilot study. J Prosthet Dent. 2008;100(5):354–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3913(08)60237-1.
- Sugiura T, Yamamoto K, Horita S, Murakami K, Tsutsumi S, Kirita T. Effects of implant tilting and the loading direction on the displacement and micromotion of immediately loaded implants: an in vitro experiment and finite element analysis. J Periodontal Implant Sci. 2017;47(4):251–62.
- Kourtis LC, Carter DR, Beaupre GS. Improving the estimate of the effective elastic modulus derived from three-point bending tests of long bones. Ann Biomed Eng. 2014;42(8):1773–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1043 9-014-1027-3.
- Friberg B, Sennerby L, Roos J, Johansson P, Strid CG, Lekholm U. Evaluation of bone density using cutting resistance measurements and microradiography: an in vitro study in pig ribs. Clin Oral Implants Res. 1995;6(3):164–71.
- Kim S-J, Yoo J, Kim Y-S, Shin S-W. Temperature change in pig rib bone during implant site preparation by low-speed drilling. J Appl Oral Sci. 2010;18(5):522–7.
- Szalma J, Lovász BV, Vajta L, Soós B, Lempel E, Möhlhenrich SC. The influence of the chosen in vitro bone simulation model on intraosseous temperatures and drilling times. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):11817. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-019-48416-6.
- Lee S-W, Kim S-G. Membranes for the Guided Bone Regeneration. Maxillofac Plast Reconstr Surg. 2014;36(6):239–46.
- Horita S, Sugiura T, Yamamoto K, Murakami K, Imai Y, Kirita T. Biomechanical analysis of immediately loaded implants according to the "All-on-Four" concept. J Prosthodont Res. 2017;61(2):123–32.
- Jiang F, Rohatgi A, Vecchio KS, Cheney JL. Analysis of the dynamic responses for a pre-cracked three-point bend specimen. Int J Fract. 2004;127(1):147–65.
- Leppanen O, Sievanen H, Jokihaara J, Pajamaki I, Jarvinen TLN. Threepoint bending of rat femur in the mediolateral direction: introduction and validation of a novel biomechanical testing protocol. J Bone Miner Res. 2006;21(8):1231–7.
- Ayagara AR, Langlet A, Hambli R. On dynamic behavior of bone: experimental and numerical study of porcine ribs subjected to impact loads in dynamic three-point bending tests. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater. 2019;98:336–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2019.05.031.
- 22. Sadeghi H, Espino DM, Shepherd DET. Fatigue strength of bovine articular cartilage-on-bone under three-point bending: the effect of loading frequency. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2017;18(1):142.
- 23. Mori S, Burr DB. Increased intracortical remodeling following fatigue damage. Bone. 1993;14(2):103–9.
- Zioupos P, Hansen U, Currey JD. Microcracking damage and the fracture process in relation to strain rate in human cortical bone tensile failure. J Biomech. 2008;41(14):2932–9.
- Vashishth D, Tanner KE, Bonfield W. Experimental validation of a microcracking-based toughening mechanism for cortical bone. J Biomech. 2003;36(1):121–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9290(02)00319-6.
- Keaveny TM, Wachtel EF, Kopperdahl DL. Mechanical behavior of human trabecular bone after overloading. J Orthop Res. 1999;17(3):346–53.
- Sannino G. All-on-4 concept: a 3-dimensional finite element analysis. J Oral Implantol. 2015;41(2):163–71.
- Jamsa T, Jalovaara P, Peng Z, Vaananen HK, Tuukkanen J. Comparison of three-point bending test and peripheral quantitative computed tomography analysis in the evaluation of the strength of mouse femur and tibia. Bone. 1998;23(2):155–61.
- Turkozan NY, Mammadov C. Biomechanical properties of the body and angle of the sheep mandible under bending loads. Dent Traumatol. 2011;27(3):179–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-9657.2011.00977.x.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

II.



MDPI

Article Distally Tilted Implants According to the All-on-Four[®] Treatment Concept for the Rehabilitation of Complete Edentulism: A 3.5-Year Retrospective Radiographic Study of Clinical Outcomes and Marginal Bone Level Changes

Árpád László Szabó ^{1,2,†}, Ádám László Nagy ^{1,†}[®], Csaba Lászlófy ³[®], Márió Gajdács ⁴[®], Péter Bencsik ⁵[®], Krisztina Kárpáti ⁶ and Zoltán Baráth ^{1,*}

- ¹ Department of Prosthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Szeged, Tisza Lajos körút 62-64, 6720 Szeged, Hungary; szabo.arpad@stoma.szote.u-szeged.hu (Á.L.S.);
 norus dam lagala@stoma.szote.u.szeged.hu (Á.L.N.)
- nagy.adam.laszlo@stoma.szote.u-szeged.hu (Á.L.N.)
- Oral Centrum Dental Ltd., Angyalka u. 1/A, 2030 Érd, Hungary
 Sangral Healthearn Ltd. Ó uta 6 1066 Budapoet Hungary: private@di
- ³ Sanoral Healthcare Ltd., Ó utca 6, 1066 Budapest, Hungary; private@drlaszlofycsaba.hu
 ⁴ Department of Oral Biology and Experimental Depta Research Excepts. United
- ⁴ Department of Oral Biology and Experimental Dental Research, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Szeged, Tisza Lajos krt. 63., 6720 Szeged, Hungary; mariopharma92@gmail.com
- ⁵ Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy, Albert Szent-Györgyi Medical School, University of Szeged, Dóm tér 12, 6721 Szeged, Hungary; bencsik.peter@med.u-szeged.hu
 - Department of Orthodontics and Pediatric Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Szeged,
 - Tisza Lajos körút 62-64, 6720 Szeged, Hungary; drkarpatik@gmail.com Correspondence: barzol34@gmail.com or barath.zoltan@stoma.szote.u-szeged.hu; Tel.: +36-62-545-297
- these authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: Bone grafting procedures during the use of dental implants may be avoided by the use of tilted implants in the maxilla and the mandible; advantages of angled implants are associated with the extension of the distal cantilever, leading to better implant survival rates. However, the bending effect on the single tilting implants may increase the marginal bone stress. The purpose of the present study was to retrospectively assess the clinical success and proximal bone loss rate following the implantation of distally tilted implants according to the All-on-Four[™] prosthetic concept—based on radiographic findings—in a single-center experience, in addition to the assessment of the outcomes in the context of various clinico-epidemiological correlates. During the study period, n = 36 patients (24 males and 12 females) with complete records of periapical radiographs, received a full-arch fixed bridge supported by two axial and two distal tilted implants; overall n = 144 and n = 144 implants (Nobel B) were place in the maxilla and mandibles of patients, respectively. Mean age of patients at the time of fixture installation was 58.75 \pm 13.71 years; *n* =11 patients presented with relevant underlying conditions/habits. To assess peri-implant bone-level changes, matched and calibrated orthopantomogram (OPT) images were taken at follow-ups after 1.5 years, 2.5 years, and 3.5 years post-restoration, and marginal bone levels were assessed on the mesio- (MA) and disto-approximal (DA) aspects. All implants were successful, resulting in a 100% overall survival rate. The radiographic mean bone loss levels at baseline (mean \pm SEM) were 0.181 \pm 0.011 mm and 0.178 \pm 0.017 mm in the maxilla and mandible, respectively, while by the 3.5-year mark, bone loss was 0.770 \pm 0.029 mm and 0.713 \pm 0.026 mm in the maxilla and mandible (p > 0.05), respectively; bone-level changes were significant over time (p = 0.035 and p = 0.033). Peri-implant bone loss was more aggressive around titled distal implants versus mesial actual position implants. The effect of smoking and other underlying conditions showed significantly higher (p < 0.05) bone resorption levels when assessed on an individual implant-level, while during patient-level analysis, only a tendency was shown for higher bone loss rates for both MA and DA implants (p > 0.05). Within its limitations, our study has concluded that the use of All-on-Four™ prosthetic concept for total arch rehabilitation yields higher bone loss in association with tilted implants and, in some cases, on the MA surfaces at vertically positioned implants after >40 months in function.



Citation: Szabó, Á.L.; Nagy, Á.L.; Lászlófy, C.; Gajdács, M.; Bencsik, P.; Kárpáti, K.; Baráth, Z. Distally Tilted Implants According to the All-on-Four® Treatment Concept for the Rehabilitation of Complete Edentulism: A 3.5-Year Retrospective Radiographic Study of Clinical Outcomes and Marginal Bone Level Changes. *Dent. J.* **2022**, *10*, 82. https://doi.org/10.3390/dj10050082

Academic Editors: Claude Jaquiéry and Patrick R. Schmidlin

Received: 23 March 2022 Accepted: 9 May 2022 Published: 11 May 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). **Keywords:** immediate implant placement; dental implants; alveolar bone resorption; All-on-Four[™]; cone-beam computed tomography; clinical study

1. Introduction

Disorders of the oral cavity are a significant cause of decreased quality of life (QoL) and they are important contributors to years lived with disability (YLDs), affecting facial aesthetics, and the capacity to eat or speak [1]. Partial or complete edentulism (the latter exceeding >10% in patients aged 50 years or older globally) is a definite condition—occurring as a long-term consequence of dental caries and periodontal disease—which has emerged as a global public health issue [2,3]. People with low socio-economic standing are disproportionally affected by tooth loss; in addition to bad oral hygiene, many modifiable risk factors (e.g., diets rich in carbohydrates, tobacco consumption, and alcohol use)-relevant in the development of other non-communicable diseases—are also critical in leading to edentulism [4,5]. The oral rehabilitation of edentulous patients involves the use of dental implants. Rehabilitation of total edentulism with a conventional implant-supported fixed restoration involves bone grafting, a sinus elevation procedure, and soft tissue management, in case of a severely atrophic alveolar process [6]. However, bone augmentation carries considerable risks of complications (infection, loss of soft tissue contours and/or volume, graft failure, and risks associated with donor materials), procedural issues, and patient morbidity, and the reconstructive surgery corresponds to higher costs and longer recovery time intervals [7,8].

This anatomical limitation may be treated with a long distal cantilever, short implants, or implants placed in a specific anatomical area [9]. Avoiding bone grafting procedures by using tilted implants in the maxilla and the mandible is a recognized alternative with no significant clinical difference in success rates compared to axially placed implants, and their acceptability by patients is also higher [10]. Clinical advantages of angled implants are associated with the extension of the distal cantilever, leading to better implant survival rates [11]. The bending effect on the single tilting implants may increase the marginal bone stress, but this may be augmented with splinting them into a multiple implant-supported prosthesis, according to a two-dimensional finite element analysis [12]. It has been shown that cervical bone stress increases proportionally with the length of the cantilever, while it is not influenced by the length of the implants. Marginal bone loss between tilted and axially placed implants demonstrated no difference and presented with no detrimental effects on osseointegration levels [13].

The principle of the All-on-FourTM concept is to apply four implants in the anterior part of completely edentulous jaws to support a provisional, fixed, and immediately loaded prosthesis [14]. During implantation on the All-on-FourTM methodology, the rehabilitation of the total arch is carried out without the need for bone augmentation and fixed prosthesis supported by two axial implants in the anterior segment, and one tilted implant anteriorly to the mental foramina and the anterior lobe of sinus on each posterior segment [15]. The tilted implants provide anchorage for the first molar occlusion with a short cantilevered segment, by reaching a more posterior implant position [16]. Maxillary and mandibular All-on-FourTM rehabilitations have a comparable cumulative survival rate [17]. Based on biomechanical analyses, major cantilever loading is the highest at the most anterior and posterior implants supporting a reconstruction, irrespective of the intermediate implants. The load supported by the most heavily loaded implant in fix restoration is independent of the number of complementary implants, according to in vivo measurements [18].

The purpose of the present study was to retrospectively assess the clinical success and the rate of proximal bone loss following the implantation of distally tilted implants according to the All-on-Four[™] prosthetic concept—based on radiographic findings—in a single-center experience, in addition to the assessment of the outcomes in the context of various clinico-epidemiological correlates (e.g., age, oral hygiene, parafunctional habits, and smoking habits of the patients). Our initial hypotheses were: (i) no differences in periimplant bone levels among axial and tilted implants during follow-ups; and (ii) no differences in peri-implant bone levels measured at the mesio-approximal and disto-approximal aspects of implants during follow-ups.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Design

The present single-center retrospective study aimed to evaluate the clinico-epidemiological and radiographic data (peri-implant bone-level changes) longitudinally from patients undergoing an implant surgical procedure with an immediately-loaded, four-implant-supported fixed prosthetic concept, following the All-on-Four[™] protocol, between 1 January 2017 and 1 January 2022.

2.2. Inclusion Criteria

The study employed convenience sampling at the study center. The following inclusion criteria were set for the study:

- (i). Patients aged 18 years or older;
- (ii). Patients in an overall good health condition, able to undergo surgical intervention;
- (iii). Patients in need for a complete rehabilitation of the edentulous maxilla or mandible, and the possibility of placing a minimum of 4 implants (at least 10 mm long);
- (iv). Sufficient bone height in the sites intended for the placement of implants (min. 6 mm, evaluated by preoperative CT scans analysis).

The exclusion criteria for the study were:

- (i). Presence of an acute infection at the planned implant sites;
- (ii). Known coagulopathies or other hematologic diseases;
- (iii). Recent occurrence of severe cardiovascular or cerebrovascular event;
- (iv). Diseases affecting the immune system;
- (v). Uncontrolled diabetes mellitus (DM);
- (vi). Pregnancy or lactation;
- (vii). Metabolic illnesses affecting the bones, bisphosphonate therapy;
- (viii).Heavy smoking (>10 packs/day);
- (ix). Systemic chemotherapy or irradiation of the head and neck region within the last 12 months;
- (x). Presence of parafunctional habits, such as severe bruxism or clenching (assessed and identified by the clinicians, based on clinical signs and symptoms);
- (xi). Inadequate oral hygiene level (full-mouth plaque and bleeding scores over 20%), poor perceived motivation on the part of the patient to maintain good oral hygiene throughout the study.

2.3. Preoperative Treatment

Prior to surgical treatment, the patients' medical and dental histories, relevant lifestyle habits (e.g., smoking), and potential drug allergies were reviewed; the preoperative assessment of the patients was carried out by a prosthodontist and a periodontist. Following the presentation of the treatment plan to the patients and obtaining consent, surgical treatment was scheduled. Cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) scans (i-CAT cone beam CT-scanner, Imaging Science) were carried out for preoperative assessment. Individuals followed an antibiotic regimen per os (clindamycin 300 mg q.i.d.) three days prior to the surgical procedures in cases where teeth had to be extracted simultaneously. Preceding surgery, local anesthesia was administered (4% articaine containing 1:100,000 epinephrine).

2.4. Implant Placement Protocol

All relevant operative interventions were performed by the same surgeon with more than twenty years of experience associated with immediate loading procedures. Quantitative and qualitative assessment of the jaw bone was performed by means of preoperative radiographs, visual inspection, and tactile evaluation during drilling; appraisal of bone quality was carried out using CBCT scans. Each individual received (i) 2 distally tilted implants in the posterior region and, after that, (ii) 2 anterior implants in the maxilla or the mandible. In the maxilla, tilted implants were positioned just anterior to the maxillary sinus, while in the mandible they were positioned anterior to the mental foramen. The placement of implants was according to the All-on-FourTM treatment concept, using the All-on-FourTM surgical guide (Nobel Biocare; Kloten, Switzerland); comprehensive details regarding the procedure have been described elsewhere [19]. Regarding bone regeneration, universal clinical protocols for immediate implant placement were used [20]. Localized bone grafting was performed to cover exposed threads and/or other osseous defects associated with extraction sockets, as needed with demineralized allografts. For the fabrication of the master cast to create the patients' provisional restoration, open-tray multi-unit impression copings were placed on the multi-unit abutments to make an impression using precision impression material (Flexitime, Heraeus Kulzer, Hanau, Germany).

Following the operative procedure, patients were instructed to abstain from brushing in the first 7 days post-op, and to rinse using warm water. For 24 h post-io, instructions and recommendations were given for a soft diet (cold or at room temperature), to be followed by a semisolid diet for the following three months. Patients were supplied with antibiotics (amoxicillin 500 mg t.i.d. or clindamycin 300 mg t.i.d. for seven days) and analgesics (non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs) to control post-operative pain and inflammation as per standard guidelines and protocols in oral surgery. To confirm implant positions, and the positions of the prosthetic components, a CBCT scan was taken immediately postoperatively.

2.5. Restorative Protocol

Prior to the surgical intervention, a heat-cured acrylic resin (Ivocap High Impact acrylic, Ivoclar Vivadent, Amherst, NY, USA) was prefabricated, which was amended to the master model directly after the surgery. Fabrication was carried out using cold curing material (Probase, Ivoclar Vivadent, Amherst, NY, USA). Following 3–4 h after the completion of the operation, the provisional all-acrylic prosthesis was seated. Routine follow-ups were scheduled for the patients after surgery at 7, 14, and 28 days and 3 months after surgery, and on a yearly basis thereafter. Following the 3-month appointment, fabrication of the definitive prosthesis was initiated, consisting of a milled titanium frame with a wrap-around heat-cured acrylic resin (Nobel Procera Implant Bridge titanium framework veneered with composite). The antagonist denture was a fixed denture/implant supported restoration in all cases. A long-cone paralleling method was applied to obtain matched and calibrated orthopantomogram (OPT; panoramic X-ray) images at the 3-month appointment and at the subsequent appointments continuously. The 3-month radiographs after the time of placement of the definitive prosthesis were utilized as a baseline (T_0) to assess the bone levels longitudinally. At the respective follow-ups, the implants were assessed for signs of peri-implantitis, plaque, and bleeding on probing (BOP), based on clinical routine guidelines.

2.6. Radiographic Assessment: Calculation of Marginal Bone Loss

Peri-implant bone-level changes were measured by matched and calibrated OPT images taken at the 3-month appointment (i.e., baseline) and follow-ups after 18 months (T₁; 1.5 years post-restoration), 30 months (T₂; 2.5 years post-restoration), and 42 months (T₃; 3.5 years post-restoration); marginal bone level (the most coronal bone-to-implant contact) was assessed on the mesio- (MA) and disto-approximal (DA) aspects. An independent researcher—not affiliated with the primary center and investigators—evaluated the OPT images. Radiographs were digitized in a 640 (H) × 480 (V) pixel matrix image with an 8-bit depth. The density and contrast were then adjusted for optimal visualization of the marginal bone, and the digital images were saved as a TIF extension image. The 2D images were then exported and analyzed using the CLINIVIEW image analysis software

(MI Dental, Knowsley, Prescot, UK). Calibration for image analysis was performed on an individual implant-level (n = 288) to achieve the most accurate results possible, where the known size and specifications of the individual documented implants were used as the basis for calibration to allow for the calculation of marginal bone level changes in the area. Assessment of bone levels were carried out and captured separately on the MA and DA sides of the implant. The change in marginal bone levels (Δ BL (mm)) from the baseline (T_0) to the values recorded at the follow-ups T_1 , T_2 , and T_3 were calculated.

2.7. Outcome Variables Assessed

The following outcome variables were ascertained during the study:

- (a). Survival of implants (%): defined as implants being stable and functional (implant stability was assessed using pressure from two opposing instruments following the unscrewing of the prosthesis), lack of peri-implant radiolucency on radiographs, lack of suppuration or pain associated with the implant site, no signs of peri-implantitis, and lack of neuropathies or persistent paresthesia.
- (b). Changes in marginal bone levels (Δ BL (mm)) from the baseline (T₀) to the values recorded at the follow-ups T₁, T₂, and T₃ post-implantation.

Marginal bone level changes were studied in the context of the following correlates and sub-groups:

- (i). Maxillary vs. mandibular implants;
- (ii). Tilted (posterior) and axial (anterior) implants;
- (iii). Mesio- (MA) and disto-approximal (DA) aspects of implants;
- (iv). Patients presenting with underlying conditions/parafunctional habits.

2.8. Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics (including means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean), ranges and percentages) was performed using Microsoft Excel 365 (Microsoft Corp., Redmond, WA, USA). Statistical analyses were carried out by the SPSS v. 22.0 (IBM Corp., Endicott, NY, USA): the normality of variables was tested using the Shapiro–Wilk test; inferential statistics were performed using independent-sample *t*-test, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test and Pearson's correlation. *p* values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

2.9. Ethical Considerations

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and national and institutional ethical standards. Ethical approval for the study protocol was obtained from the Human Institutional and Regional Biomedical Research Ethics Committee, University of Szeged (registration number: 158/2021-SZTE [5035]). All participants were informed of the nature and aims of the study and the data collected; all participants of the study signed an informed consent form.

3. Results

3.1. Patient Characteristics, Clinical Outcome

During the study period, n = 36 patients (24 males and 12 females) with complete records of periapical radiographs underwent implant placement using the All-on-FourTM concept and have been rehabilitated; overall n = 144 and n = 144 implants (Nobel B) were place in the maxilla and mandibles of patients, respectively, i.e., the analysis of individual implant data for n = 288 was performed. The mean age of patients at the time of fixture installation was 58.75 ± 13.71 years (range: 19–90 years). Out of the thirty-six patients involved, six patients receiving implants in the mandible (controlled DM n = 1, mild bruxism n = 1, impacted oral hygiene (i.e., full-mouth plaque score and full mouth bleeding score 0–20%) n = 1, smoking n = 3, smoking and impacted oral hygiene n = 1) and five patients receiving implants in the maxilla (controlled DM n = 1, impacted oral hygiene n = 1, mild bruxism n = 1 and smoking n = 1, smoking and impacted oral hygiene n = 1)

had underlying conditions/habits relevant to the outcome of the study (these patients will be grouped together for subgroup analyses). Among smokers, the daily average tobacco consumption of was 8.2 ± 2.6 cigarettes. During the 42-month study period no implants have failed, resulting in 100% overall survival rate (not affected by the clinico-epidemiological parameters of the patients), highlighting the success of the All-on-FourTM concept. All patients complied with the set timetables, no patients (n = 0) were lost to follow-up at either follow-ups (at 18 months, 30 months, and 42 months post-restoration); the status of all n = 36 patients were followed for the entirety of the study period.

3.2. Marginal Bone-Level Changes across Different Correlates

The radiographic mean bone loss levels at baseline (T_0) were 0.181 \pm 0.011 mm (mean \pm SEM; maxilla (n = 144): 0.178 \pm 0.017 mm vs. mandible (n = 144): 0.184 \pm 0.015 mm; p > 0.05); in the subsequent analyses, marginal bone level changes (Δ BL) at T_1 , T_2 , and T_3 follow-up times were compared to these initial values. Levels of marginal bone loss according to different correlates are presented in Table 1 (maxilla vs. mandible), Table 2 (axial vs. posterior implants) and Table 3 (MA vs. DA); in addition, the extent of bone loss on an individual implant-level is represented in Tables 4 and 5.

The average rate of bone loss after the 1.5-year follow-up was 0.558 ± 0.029 mm and 0.484 ± 0.024 mm, while by the 3.5-year mark, bone loss was 0.770 ± 0.029 mm and 0.713 ± 0.026 mm regarding the implants placed in the maxilla and mandibular bone, respectively; bone-level changes were significant over time (p = 0.035 and p = 0.033, respectively), while the alterations observed around the maxilla and mandibular implants did not differ significantly (p > 0.05) (Table 1). In patients presenting with underlying conditions/habits (described previously), a tendency was shown for higher bone loss rates in the maxilla (T1: -0.633 ± 0.056 mm, T2: -0.780 ± 0.056 mm, and T3: -0.830 ± 0.053 mm) and the mandible (T1: -0.535 ± 0.048 mm, T2: -0.700 ± 0.054 mm, and T3: -0.763 ± 0.051 mm), however none of these differences were statistically significant (p > 0.05).

Table 1. Marginal bone-level changes around implants located in the maxilla and mandible duringthe 42-month study period.

Marginal Bone Level Changes (Δ BL) (mm \pm SEM)				
Follow-Up	Maxilla ($n = 144$)	Mandible ($n = 144$)	<i>p</i> -value (between groups) **	
T1	$-0.558 \pm 0.029 \; ^{\rm a}$	$-0.484 \pm 0.024~^{\rm a}$	<i>p</i> > 0.05	
T2	$-0.747 \pm 0.030 \ ^{\rm b}$	-0.678 ± 0.036 ^b	<i>p</i> > 0.05	
T3	-0.770 ± 0.029 ^b	$-0.713 \pm 0.026 \ ^{\rm b}$	<i>p</i> > 0.05	
<i>p</i> -value (between follow-ups) *	p = 0.035	<i>p</i> = 0.033		

* based on ANOVA analysis, significant differences (p < 0.05) among groups (as demonstrated by post hoc tests) are indicated by different superscript letters (a and b); ** based on independent-sample *t*-test; *p*-values below 0.05 are shown in *boldface*.

Table 2. Marginal bone-level changes around axial and tilted implants during the 42-month study period.

Marginal Bone Level Changes (Δ BL) (mm \pm SEM)				
Follow-Up	Axial (Anterior) ($n = 144$)	Tilted (Posterior) ($n = 144$)	<i>p</i> -value (between groups) **	
T1	-0.405 ± 0.021 a	-0.637 ± 0.027 a	<i>p</i> = 0.008	
T2	$-0.592 \pm 0.024 \ ^{\rm b}$	-0.676 ± 0.028 a	p = 0.048	
Т3	-0.606 ± 0.022 ^b	$-0.833 \pm 0.029 \ ^{\rm b}$	<i>p</i> = 0.002	
<i>p</i> -value (between follow-ups) *	p = 0.041	p = 0.039		

* based on ANOVA analysis, significant differences (p < 0.05) among groups (as demonstrated by post hoc tests) are indicated by different superscript letters (a and b); ** based on independent-sample *t*-test; *p*-values below 0.05 are shown in *boldface*.
| Marginal Bone Level Changes (Δ BL) (mm \pm SEM) | | | | | | | |
|---|---|--------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Follow-Up | Follow-Up Mesio-Approximal (MA)
Aspect $(n = 144)$ | | <i>p</i> -value (between groups) ** | | | | |
| T1 | $-0.519 \pm 0.024~^{\rm a}$ | $-0.522\pm 0.029~^{\rm a}$ | <i>p</i> > 0.05 | | | | |
| T2 | -0.697 ± 0.025 ^b | $-0.728 \pm 0.032^{\text{ b}}$ | <i>p</i> > 0.05 | | | | |
| T3 | -0.729 ± 0.024 ^b | $-0.793 \pm 0.029 \ ^{\rm b}$ | <i>p</i> > 0.05 | | | | |
| <i>p</i> -value (between follow-ups) * | p = 0.029 | p = 0.035 | | | | | |

Table 3. Marginal bone-level changes on the mesio- (MA) and disto-approximal (DA) aspects of the implants during the 42-month study period.

* based on ANOVA analysis, significant differences (p < 0.05) among groups (as demonstrated by post hoc tests) are indicated by different superscript letters (a and b); ** based on independent-sample *t*-test; *p*-values below 0.05 are shown in *boldface*.

Table 4. Marginal bone-level changes around individual implants in the maxilla during the 42-month study period.

	Marginal Bone Level Changes (Δ BL) (mm \pm SEM)							
Follow-Up	12DA (<i>n</i> = 18)	12MA (<i>n</i> = 18)	14DA (<i>n</i> = 18)	14MA (<i>n</i> = 18)	22DA (<i>n</i> = 18)	22MA (<i>n</i> = 18)	24DA (<i>n</i> = 18)	24MA (<i>n</i> = 18)
T1	-0.378 ± 0.051 ^a	-0.489 ± 0.063 ^a	-0.728 ± 0.093 ^a	-0.567 ± 0.074 ^a	$^{-0.361\pm}_{0.061~a}$	$^{-0.439\pm}_{0.055~^{\rm a}}$	-0.844 ± 0.095 ^a	-0.538 ± 0.053 ^a
Range (mm)	-0.0-0.7	-0.0-1.1	-0.2 - 1.4	-0.0-1.2	-0.0-0.8	-0.0-1.0	-0.4 - 1.8	-0.0-1.2
T2	$^{-0.583\pm}_{0.042}{}^{\rm b}$	$^{-0.661\pm}_{0.051^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.950\pm}_{0.105~^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.733}_{-0.072}$ $^{ m b}$	$^{-0.489\pm}_{0.062^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.605\pm}_{0.067^{\rm b}}$	$^{-1.033\pm}_{0.087^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.722\pm}_{0.056~b}$
Range (mm)	-0.3-1.0	-0.1- 1.1	-0.3 - 1.7	-0.2-1.2	-0.1- 0.8	-0.4 - 1.4	-0.6 - 1.8	-0.1-1.3
T3	$^{-0.711}_{-0.061}$ $^{\rm c}$	$^{-0.717\pm}_{0.054}{}^{\rm b}$	$^{-1.001\pm}_{0.101~^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.772\pm}_{0.074~^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.553}_{-0.053}$ $^{ m b}_{ m b}$	$^{-0.667\pm}_{0.065^{\rm b}}$	$^{-1.066\pm}_{0.081^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.789\pm}_{0.066~^{\rm b}}$
Range (mm)	-0.3-1.1	-0.2 -1.1	-0.3 - 1.7	-0.3 - 1.5	-0.1- 0.8	-0.4 - 1.4	-0.6 - 1.8	-0.1-1.3
Statistical significance ¹	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*

¹ based on ANOVA analyses, level of significance: * denotes p < 0.05; significant differences (p < 0.05) among groups (as demonstrated by post hoc tests) are indicated by different superscript letters (a, b, and c).

Table 5. Marginal bone level changes around individual implants in the mandible during the 42-month study period.

	Marginal Bone Level Changes (Δ BL) (mm \pm SEM)							
Follow-Up	32DA (<i>n</i> = 18)	32MA (<i>n</i> = 18)	34DA (<i>n</i> = 18)	34MA (<i>n</i> = 18)	42DA (<i>n</i> = 18)	42MA (<i>n</i> = 18)	44DA (<i>n</i> = 18)	44MA (<i>n</i> = 18)
T1	$^{-0.256~\pm}_{0.051~^{\rm a}}$	-0.550 ± 0.078 ^a	-0.622 ± 0.052 ^a	-0.494 ± 0.058 ^a	$^{-0.344\pm}_{0.054~^{\rm a}}$	-0.422 ± 0.066 ^a	-0.344 ± 0.054 ^a	-0.538 ± 0.053 ^a
Range (mm)	-0-0.6	-0.1-1.1	-0.2 - 1.0	-0.1-0.9	-0-0.8	-0.1-1.0	-0.2 - 1.0	-0.1-1.4
T2	$^{-0.388}_{-0.053}$ $^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{b}}$	$^{-0.689\pm}_{0.082^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.827}_{-0.053}$ $^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{b}}$	$^{-0.678\pm}_{0.063^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.494\pm}_{0.046^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.627\pm}_{0.062^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.494\pm}_{0.046^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.722\pm}_{0.056}{}^{\rm b}$
Range (mm)	-0.1- 0.7	-0.1 -1.4	-0.4 - 1.3	-0.2 - 1.0	-0.1-0.8	-0.2-1.2	-0.3-1.1	-0.3 - 1.4
T3	$-0.444 \pm 0.051 \ ^{\rm c}$	$^{-0.722}_{-0.081}\pm$	$^{-0.872}_{-0.044}$ $^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{b}}$	$^{-0.717}_{-0.059}$ $^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{b}}$	$^{-0.555\pm}_{0.051}{}^{\rm b}$	$^{-0.694\pm}_{0.051^{\rm b}}$	$^{-0.555}_{-0.051}$ $^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{b}}$	$^{-0.789}_{-0.066}$ $^{ m b}$
Range (mm)	-0.1- 0.8	-0.1 -1.4	-0.6-1.3	-0.3-1.1	-0.2-0.9	-0.4 -1.1	-0.3-1.3	-0.4 - 1.5
Statistical significance ¹	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*

¹ based on ANOVA analyses, level of significance: * denotes p < 0.05; significant differences (p < 0.05) among groups (as demonstrated by post hoc tests) are indicated by different superscript letters (a, b, and c).

Measured bone loss was significantly higher in posterior implants throughout the follow-up period (Table 2); in addition, bone-level changes were significant over time (p = 0.041 and p = 0.039). Similarly to the previous result, in patients presenting with underlying conditions/habits, bone loss rates that are numerically higher—but not statistically significant—were observed for axial (T1: -0.422 ± 0.038 mm, T2: -0.596 ± 0.038 mm, and T3: -0.641 ± 0.036 mm) implants, while bone loss was significantly higher for tilted (T1: -0.733 ± 0.056 mm, T2: -0.907 ± 0.061 mm, and T3: -0.949 ± 0.057 mm) implants (p < 0.05).

No significant differences were observed in the measured bone-level changes on the MA and DA aspects of the implants throughout the study period (p > 0.05 in all cases; Table 3), while bone loss increased consistently during the follow-up periods in both the MA (p = 0.029) and DA (p = 0.035) aspects. During subgroup analysis, a tendency was shown for higher bone loss rates for both MA (T1: -0.586 ± 0.043 , T2: -0.716 ± 0.046 , and T3: -0.767 ± 0.042) and DA (T1: -0.545 ± 0.051 , T2: -0.757 ± 0.063 , and T3: -0.825 ± 0.060), however these differences were not statistically significant (p > 0.05).

The degree of bone resorption was also assessed on an individual implant-level, separately in the maxilla and mandible, presented in Tables 4 and 5, respectively. In the case of the maxilla, higher bone loss was observed for the teeth 14DA (with -1.001 ± 0.101 mm at T3, range: -0.3-1.7 mm) and 24DA (with -1.066 ± 0.081 mm at T3, range: -0.6-1.8 mm), which were significantly higher than the values compared to most other teeth (p < 0.05) (Table 4). The highest rates of bone loss in the mandibles were shown for the teeth 34DA (with -0.872 ± 0.044 mm at T3, range: -0.6–1.3 mm) and 44MA (with -0.789 ± 0.066 mm at T3, range: -0.4-1.5 mm); bone resorption rate was significantly higher at 34DA than that observed for other teeth (p < 0.05), with the exception of 32MA and 44MA. Significantly increasing levels of bone loss were seen in all respective cases, both for maxilla and mandibular implants (p < 0.05). The effects of smoking and other underlying conditions were also assessed on these results; although we had a limited number of patients to pool from for aggregated data, significantly higher (p < 0.05) bone resorption levels were observed for 14MA (T1: -0.760 ± 0.137 , T2: -0.900 ± 0.129 , and T3: -0.940 ± 0.117), 24DA (T1: -1.100 ± 0.231 , T2: -1.240 ± 0.211 , and T3: -1.260 ± 0.219) and 44DA (T1: -0.700 ± 0.143 , T2: -1.050 ± 0.183 , and T3: -1.117 ± 0.168), while only numerical tendencies were shown for the other teeth.

We have tested whether the age of the patients was a relevant correlate regarding bone resorption levels; overall, we did not find any significant linear correlation between the degree of bone resorption and age. However, in case of 12MA in the maxilla, a positive (but non-significant) tendency could be observed.

4. Discussion

Following the introduction of dental implants, their stability may be characterized by two distinct processes: primary (mechanical) implant stability influences the immediate outcome of the surgery (influenced by bone quality, preparation of the implant bed, and implant geometry), while secondary (biological) stability is a dynamic physiological process (influenced by the underlying factors of the patients and implant microtopography), leading to the formation of the implant-bone interface [21]. Previously, conventional loading protocols were carries out after a healing period of 2-3 months; however, recently, the immediate loading protocols (highly relying on implants reaching high primary stability) have been extensively investigated for their clinical applicability, showing that their overall survival rates and patient satisfaction are comparable to two-stage protocols [22]. Only around two-thirds of patients are completely complication-free following the restoration of the implant-supported fixed prostheses; these complications may include biological adverse events (e.g., peri-implantits or loss of alveolar bone) and technical complications (screw loosening, retention loss, or fractures in the superstructures), that may lead to implant failure [7,23,24]. The clinical utility of the All-on-Four[™] treatment concept has been demonstrated in numerous clinical studies, showing that this technique is distinguished by

a predictable, positive prognosis and high patient satisfaction rates [14,25]. The superiority of this concept is associated with the implementation of an atrophic maxilla or mandible, less complicated surgery and upkeep, and masticatory forces in the satisfactory range [14].

The principal aim of the present retrospective study was to provide data on the clinical outcomes associated with distally tilted implants according to the All-on-Four[™] therapeutic concept, and to assess the rates of marginal bone loss as a function of time elapsed and patient characteristics using radiographic findings. Various procedures preceding implant placement (e.g., impression, drilling, and introduction of tools) lead to inflammation and, consequently, a baseline level of bone resorption will inevitably occur [26]. Additionally, current publications provide evidence that repeated abutment manipulation—in case of implants with platform-switching—leads to detrimental changes in soft and hard tissues (i.e., tissue remodeling as measured by mucosal margins, implant shoulder, apical extension of the long junctional epithelium and most coronal bone-level in contact with the implant) [27]. Thus, on one hand, the use of implants with fixed abutments ("one abutment–one time" concept) may greatly stabilize peri-implant soft and hard tissues, while immediate implant placement may significantly reduce the initial unavoidable bone loss [28].

The 3.5-year-long follow-up period involved thirty-six patients, with an overall survival rate of 100%. High implant survival rates have been consistently reported for this technique; a comprehensive clinical study by Maló et al. reported a 98.2% cumulative implant survival rate, while based on the literature summary performed by Durkan et al., the overall success rate ranges between 92.2–100%, with no differences between tilted and axial implants in clinical success rates [14,29]. Based on our measured bone loss levels at baseline (T_0 ; ~0.18 mm) and at the three follow-up points (T_1 , T_2 , and T_3), bone loss showed the kinetics characteristic for a saturation curve, i.e., showing relatively high ΔBL values at the first-follow-up, with bone-levels changes "flattening out" the curve. By the third follow-up, mean bone loss in our patients was around 0.7–0.8 mm in both the maxilla and mandible, with specific positions in the maxilla and the mandible disproportionally affected; while a tendency for higher measured peri-implant bone loss was seen on the DA aspects, no significant differences were shown MA vs. DA aspects during follow-ups. Bone resorption measured on the MA aspects may be mediated by the chewing forces generated on extension surfaces and the negative torque generated by the bucco-lingual forces, which exerts tensile stresses on these surfaces (previously verified via finite element analyses), which can enhance bone resorption [30]. The cortical bone is most mechanically resistant to compressive forces, less resistant to tensile force, and the least resistant to shear forces [31].

The literature shows wide variation for bone-loss among studies, which is also considerably influenced by the follow-up period associated with the study. Similar kinetics in bone-loss where observed by Hürzeler et al. [32], showing marginal bone loss levels of 1.5 mm in the first year post-implantation, followed by 0.2 ± 0.5 mm in the subsequent years (in a 5-year follow up study), and Widmark et al. [33], with bone loss levels of 1.0 mm in the first year post-implantation, followed by 0.2 mm in the subsequent years (with follow-ups ranging between 3–5 years). In a study involving thirty-nine patients, Makary et al. assessed the clinical success of an early loading protocol by controlling for thread depth according to the bone density of the implant site. They showed a decrease in Implant Stability Quotient (ISQ) values in the early periods of healing—associated with the transition from mechanical to biological stability-following the surgical intervention, with the average marginal bone loss recorded at 0.12 ± 0.12 mm at 12 months post-loading with a 100% survival rate. No differences were shown between the MA and DA aspects of implants [34]. Similarly to this study, no differences were observed between bone loss at the MA and DA aspects by Barone et al. (0.4 mm vs. 0.5 mm) and Iasella et al. (1.0 mm vs. 0.8 mm) [35]. In a retrospective, CBCT-based study, Roe et al. reported a 0.82 \pm 0.64 mm vertical, and 1.23 ± 0.75 mm horizontal bone height reduction at 1-year follow-up after immediate implant placement [36]. Interestingly, the study of Maló et al. reported implant failure in similar positions where our study presented with the highest levels on an individual implant-level [37].

On the other hand, bone loss levels were significantly higher around tilted implants compared to axial implants at every time-point. Tilted or short implants provide viable alternatives to bone grafting; on the other hand, they may lead to increased stress on the surrounding bone due to bending [12,38]. A finite-element analysis performed by Almeida et al. showed that the presence of distally tilted implants in an All-on-Four™ concept would result in higher maxillary bone stress compared to vertical implants [21]; these results were corroborated by the study of Rubo et al., additionally highlighting that the proportion of increased stress in proportional to the increased length of the cantilever [39]. In contrast, the paper by Durkan et al. reports bone loss levels within the range of 0.34– 1.14 mm for axial, and 0.43–1.13 mm for angled implants, with no significant differences between them [14]. Implant length may also considerably affect implant survival and marginal bone loss, as demonstrated by the meta-analysis conducted by Fernandes et al.: based on the randomized controlled studies (RCTs) included in the analysis, survival rate of extra short (≤ 6 mm) and longer (6 mm) implants were similar (93.12% vs. 95.98%). In addition, average marginal bone loss at 1-year-, 3-year-, 5-year- and 8-year follow-ups were -0.71 mm, -0.42 mm, -0.69 mm, and -1.58 mm for extra short implants, while -0.92 mm, -0.43 mm, -0.46 mm, and -2.46 mm for longer implants, respectively. Overall, published clinical studies have shown that bone loss was lower in extra short implants [40]

As an additional aim of this research, the bone loss levels in patients presenting with underlying conditions and lifestyle factors were assessed as a sub-group within the patients involved in this study. It is well-known that inadequate oral hygiene (and a lack of motivation to practice good oral care), chronic conditions affecting the physiology of the oral cavity, smoking, and bruxism have a considerable influence on implant survival and clinical outcome, so much so that severe cases of the above mentioned are considered contraindications for the use of dental implants [41]. Among the patients, eleven were impacted by of these factors, which were also analyzed separately: while a tendency for higher bone loss values were shown around the implants in these individuals, significant differences were not shown. A retrospective, comparative study by Chrcanovic et al. found that the odds of implant failure was almost three times higher (OR: 2.71; 95% CI: 1.25, 5.88) in bruxers compared to non-bruxers; however, the level of differences showed a decreasing trend with increases in implant length and in cases of rough-surface implants [42]. The study of Glasuer et al. came to similar conclusions, with implant failure being 4.9-times more common (95% CI: 1.75, 13.71) in identified bruxers [43].

The study of Mohanty et al. classified patients based on the presence of the potential underlying factors affecting implant health: they have found that out of n = 425 dental implants studied, implant failure was observed in 29%, 27%, 15.2%, and 13% in the diabetes group, smoking group, periodontitis group, and the bruxism group, respectively [44]. Marginal bone loss levels around implants placed in maxillary sinus grafts were studied by Herzberg et al. in 4.5-year follow-up: their results showed that immediate loading was associated with lower baseline bone loss (0.08 ± 0.24 mm vs. delayed implantation 0.31 ± 0.62 mm), smoking considerably affected the average yearly marginal bone loss $(0.24 \pm 0.49 \text{ mm vs. non-smokers}, 0.09 \pm 0.32 \text{ mm})$. This study—showing a 95.5% cumulative survival rate—also highlighted the significant association between smoking status and >0.2 mm/year bone loss (p = 0.011), while the number of cigarettes did not have a modifying effect; no such association was seen for bruxism [45]. In a 5-year retrospective cohort study involving 100 smoking and 100 non-smoking patients, Maló et al. assessed the outcome of full-arch mandibular fixed prosthetic rehabilitations based on the All-on-FourTM concept: implant survival did not differ among the two groups (96.9% vs. 99.0%), while marginal bone resorption rate was significantly higher among smokers (1.68 \pm 0.76 mm vs. non-smokers 1.98 ± 1.02 mm; p = 0.045); on the other hand, relevant differences in bone resorption around and anterior and posterior implant were not shown [46].

5. Conclusions

Within its limitations (i.e., retrospective study design, number of subjects, and followup period), our study has concluded that the use of All-on-FourTM prosthetic concept for total arch rehabilitation yields higher bone loss in association with tilted implants and, in some cases, on the MA surfaces at vertically positioned implants after >40 months of function. In addition, we have shown that inadequate oral hygiene, chronic conditions affecting the physiology of the oral cavity, smoking, and bruxism have a considerable aggravating role in enhancing marginal bone loss over time, increasing the risk for complications and implant failure. Overall, our present study highlights the areas of concern during prosthetic rehabilitation with the All-on-FourTM concept; in the future, results of our study may be extended as a randomized, controlled trial (RCT) with a longer follow-up period and larger number of patients.

Author Contributions: Á.L.S. and Z.B. conceived and designed the study. Á.L.S., Á.L.N., C.L. and Z.B. were involved in the treatment of the patients, the collection of radiographic data, and data analysis. M.G. and P.B. performed statistical analysis. Á.L.S. and Á.L.N. wrote the initial draft of the manuscript, M.G., K.K. and Z.B. revised the full paper. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: M.G. and P.B. were supported by the János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences. The research was supported by the ÚNKP-21-5-SZTE-540 (M.G.) and ÚNKP-21-5-SZTE-543 (P.B.) New National Excellence Program of the Ministry of Human Capacities. This project was supported by the Hungarian National Scientific Research Fund (OTKA-FK-138223).

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and national and institutional ethical standards. Ethical approval for the study protocol was obtained from the Human Institutional and Regional Biomedical Research Ethics Committee, University of Szeged (registration number: 158/2021-SZTE [5035]).

Informed Consent Statement: Written informed consent was obtained from all participants involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: All data generated during the study are presented in this paper.

Acknowledgments: Part of the APC was kindly funded by the Dentistry Journal Editorial Office (MDPI).

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest, monetary or otherwise. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of this article.

References

- Kassebaum, N.J.; Smith, A.G.C.; Bernabé, E.; Fleming, T.D.; Reynolds, A.E.; Vos, T.; Murray, C.J.L.; Marcenes, W.; GBD 2015 Oral Health Collaborators. Global, Regional, and National Prevalence, Incidence, and Disability-Adjusted Life Years for Oral Conditions for 195 Countries, 1990–2015: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors. J. Dent. Res. 2017, 96, 380–387. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. Jin, L.L.; Lamster, I.B.; Greenspan, J.S.; Pitts, N.B.; Scully, C.; Warnakulasuriya, S. Global burden of oral diseases: Emerging concepts, management and interplay with systemic health. *Oral Dis.* **2016**, *22*, 609–619. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Watt, R.G.; Daly, B.; Allison, P.; Macpherson, L.M.; Venturelli, R.; Listl, S.; Weyant, R.J.; Mathur, M.R.; Guarnizo-Herreno, C.C.; Celeste, R.K.; et al. Ending the neglect of global oral health: Time for radical action. *Lancet* **2019**, *394*, 261–272. [CrossRef]
- Kailembo, A.; Preet, R.; Williams, J.S. Common risk factors and edentulism in adults, aged 50 years and over, in China, Ghana, India and South Africa: Results from the WHO Study on global AGEing and adult health (SAGE). BMC Oral Health 2017, 17, e29. [CrossRef]
- Tyrovolas, S.; Koyanagi, A.; Panagiotakos, D.B.; Haro, J.M.; Kassebaum, N.J.; Chrepa, V.; Kotsakis, G.A. Population prevalence of edentulism and its association with depression and self-rated health. *Sci. Rep.* 2016, *6*, e37083. [CrossRef]
- 6. Van der Weijden, F.; Dell'Acqua, F.; Slot, D.E. Alveolar bone dimensional changes of post-extraction sockets in humans: A systematic review. *J. Clin. Periodontol.* **2009**, *36*, 1048–1058. [CrossRef]
- Do, T.A.; Le, H.S.; Shen, Y.W.; Huang, H.L.; Fuh, L.J. Risk Factors related to Late Failure of Dental Implant—A Systematic Review of Recent Studies. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020, 17, 3931. [CrossRef]
- Nagy, Á.L.; Tóth, Z.; Tarjányi, T.; Práger, N.T.; Baráth, Z.L. Biomechanical properties of the bone during implant placement. BMC Oral Health 2021, 21, e86. [CrossRef]

- 9. Maló, P.; Nobre, M.A.; Lopes, A.; Rodrigues, R. Double Full-Arch Versus Single Full-Arch, Four Implant-Supported Rehabilitations: A Retrospective, 5-Year Cohort Study. J. Prosthodont. 2015, 24, 263–270. [CrossRef]
- Testori, T.; Del Fabbro, M.; Capelli, M.; Zuffetti, F.; Francetti, L.; Weinstein, R.L. Immediate occlusal loading and tilted implants for the rehabilitation of the atrophic edentulous maxilla: 1-year interim results of a multicenter prospective study. *Clin. Oral Implants Res.* 2008, 19, 227–232. [CrossRef]
- 11. Taruna, M.; Chittaranjan, B.; Sudheer, N.; Tella, S.; Abusaad, M. Prosthodontic Perspective to All-On-4[®] Concept for Dental Implants. *J. Clin. Diagn. Res.* **2014**, *8*, ZE16–ZE19. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Bevilacqua, M.; Tealdo, T.; Pera, F.; Menini, M.; Mossolov, A.; Drago, C.; Pera, P. Three-dimensional finite element analysis of load transmission using different implant inclinations and cantilever lengths. *Int. J. Prosthodont.* **2008**, *21*, 539–542. [PubMed]
- Liu, T.; Mu, Z.; Yu, T.; Wang, C.; Huang, Y. Biomechanical comparison of implant inclinations and load times with the all-on-4 treatment concept: A three-dimensional finite element analysis. *Comput. Methods Biomech. Biomech. Eng.* 2019, 22, 585–594. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Durkan, R.; Oyar, P.; Deste, G. Maxillary and Mandibular All-on-Four Implant Designs: A Review. *Niger. J. Clin. Pract.* 2019, 22, 1033–1040.
- Tribst, J.P.M.; de Morais, D.C.; de Matos, J.D.M.; Lopes, G.D.S.; de Oliviera Dal Piva, A.M.; Borges, A.L.S.; Bottino, M.A.; Lanzotti, A.; Martorelli, M.; Ausiello, P. Influence of Framework Material and Posterior Implant Angulation in Full-Arch All-on-4 Implant-Supported Prosthesis Stress Concentration. *Dent. J.* 2022, 10, 12. [CrossRef]
- Tallarico, M.; Meloni, S.M.; Xhanari, E.; Canullo, L. Three-year clinical and radiographic outcomes of patients treated according to the All-on-4 concept in the daily practice: A prospective observational study on implants and prosthesis survival rates and complications. *J. Oral Sci. Rehab.* 2016, *2*, 16–25.
- 17. Maló, P.; Rangert, B.; Nobre, M. "All-on-Four" Immediate-Function Concept with Brånemark System[®] Implants for Completely Edentulous Mandibles: A Retrospective Clinical Study. *Clin. Implant Dent. Relat. Res.* **2003**, *1*, 2–9. [CrossRef]
- Almeida, E.O.; Rocha, E.P.; Júnior, F.C.A.; Anchieta, R.B.; Poveda, R.; Gupta, N.; Coelho, P. Tilted and Short Implants Supporting Fixed Prosthesis in an Atrophic Maxilla: A 3D-FEA Biomechanical Evaluation. *Clin. Implant Dent. Relat. Res.* 2015, 17, e332–e342. [CrossRef]
- Nobel Biocare: How You Can Start with the All-on-4®Treatment Concept. Available online: https://www.artisbiotech.ro/wpcontent/uploads/All-on-4-Manual.pdf (accessed on 18 March 2022).
- Javaid, M.A.; Kurshid, Z.; Zafar, M.A.; Najeeb, S. Immediate Implants: Clinical Guidelines for Esthetic Outcomes. Dent. J. 2016, 4, 21. [CrossRef]
- Atsumi, M.; Park, S.H.; Wang, H.L. Methods used to assess implant stability: Current status. Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Implant. 2007, 22, 743–754.
- Sanz-Sánchez, I.; Sanz-Martín, I.; Figuero, E.; Sanz, M. Clinical efficacy of immediate implant loading protocols compared to conventional loading depending on the type of the restoration: A systematic review. *Clin. Oral Implants Res.* 2015, 26, 964–982. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Romanidi, M.; Cordaro, M.; Donno, S.; Cordaro, L. Discrepancy Between Patient Satisfaction and Biologic Complication Rate in Patients Rehabilitated with Overdentures and Not Participating in a Structured Maintenance Program After 7 to 12 Years of Loading. Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Implant. 2019, 4, 1143–1151. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Schwarz, M.S. Mechanical complications of dental implants. Clin. Oral Implants Res. 2000, 11, 156–158. [CrossRef]
- Patzelt, S.B.M.; Bahat, O.; Reynolds, M.A.; Strub, J.R. The All-on-Four Treatment Concept: A Systematic Review. *Clin. Implant Dent. Relat. Res.* 2014, 16, 836–855. [CrossRef]
- Ortega-Martínez, J.; Pérez-Pascual, T.; Mareque-Bueno, S.; Hernández-Alfaro, F.; Ferrés-Padró, E. Immediate implants following tooth extraction. A systematic review. *Med. Oral. Patol. Oral Cir. Bucal* 2012, 17, e251–e261. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Becker, K.; Mihatovic, I.; Golubovic, V.; Schwarz, F. Impact of abutment material and dis-/re-connection on soft and hard tissue changes at implants with platform-switching. *J. Clin. Periodontol.* 2012, 39, 774–780. [CrossRef]
- Santos, J.S.; Santos, T.S.; Filho, P.R.S.M.; von Krockow, N.; Weigl, P.; Pablo, H. One Abutment at One Time Concept for Platform-Switched Morse Implants: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Braz. Dent. J.* 2018, 29, 7–13. [CrossRef]
- 29. Maló, P.; de Araújo Nobre, M.; Lopes, A.; Moss, S.M.; Molina, G.J. A longitudinal study of the survival of All-on-4 implants in the mandible with up to 10 Years of follow-up. *J. Am. Dent. Assoc.* **2011**, *142*, 310–320. [CrossRef]
- Nishigawa, G.; Matsunaga, T.; Maruo, Y.; Okamoto, M.; Natusaki, N.; Minagi, S. Finite element analysis of the effect of the bucco-lingual position of artificial posterior teeth under occlusal force on the denture supporting bone of the edentulous patient. J. Oral Rehabil. 2003, 30, 646–652. [CrossRef]
- Hart, N.H.; Nimphius, S.; Rantalainen, T.; Ireland, A.; Siafarikas, A.; Newton, R.U. Mechanical basis of bone strength: Influence of bone material, bone structure and muscle action. J. Muscoskelet. Neuronal. Interact. 2017, 17, 114–139.
- 32. Hürzeler, M.; Fickl, S.; Zuhr, O.; Wachtel, H. Peri-implant bone level around implants with platform-switched abutments: Preliminary data from a prospective study. *J. Oral. Maxillofac. Surg.* **2007**, *65*, 33–39. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Widmark, G.; Andersson, B.; Carlsson, G.E.; Lindval, A.M.; Ivanoff, C.J. Rehabilitation of patients with severely resorbed maxillae by means of implants with or without bone grafts: A 3- to 5-year follow-up clinical report. *Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Implant.* 2001, 16, 73–79. [PubMed]

- Makary, C.; Menhall, A.; Zammarie, C.; Lombardi, T.; Lee, S.Y.; Stacchi, C.; Park, K.B. Primary Stability Optimization by Using Fixtures with Different Thread Depth According To Bone Density: A Clinical Prospective Study on Early Loaded Implants. *Materials* 2019, 12, 2398. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Barone, A.; Ricci, M.; Romanos, G.E.; Tonelli, P.; Alfonsi, F.; Covani, U. Buccal bone deficiency in fresh extraction sockets: A prospective single cohort study. *Clin. Oral Implants Res.* **2015**, *26*, 823–830. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Roe, P.; Kan, J.Y.; Rungcharassaeng, K.; Caruso, J.M.; Zimmerman, G.; Mesquida, J. Horizontal and vertical dimensional changes of peri-implant facial bone following immediate placement and provisionalization of maxillary anterior single implants: A 1-year cone beam computed tomography study. *Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Implant.* 2012, 27, 393–400.
- Maló, P.; de Araújó Nobel, M.; Lopes, A.; Ferro, A.; Gravito, I. All-on-4[®] Treatment Concept for the Rehabilitation of the Completely Edentulous Mandible: A 7-Year Clinical and 5-Year Radiographic Retrospective Case Series with Risk Assessment for Implant Failure and Marginal Bone Level. *Clin. Implant Dent. Relat. Res.* 2015, *17*, e531–e541. [CrossRef]
- Moneiro, D.R.; Silva, E.V.F.; Pellizzer, E.P.; Filho, O.M.; Goiato, M.C. Posterior partially edentulous jaws, planning a rehabilitation with dental implants. World J. Clin. Cases 2015, 3, 65–76. [CrossRef]
- Rubo, J.H.; Souza, E.A.C. Finite element analysis of stress in bone adjacent to dental implants. J. Oral Implantol. 2008, 34, 248–255. [CrossRef]
- Fernandes, G.V.O.; Costa, B.M.G.N.; Trindade, H.F.; Castilho, R.M.; Fernandes, J.C.H. Comparative analysis between extra-short implants (≤6 mm) and 6 mm-longer implants: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trial. *Austr. Dent. J.* 2022; *Online ahead of* print. [CrossRef]
- Zhou, Y.; Gao, J.; Lou, L.; Wang, Y. Does Bruxism Contribute to Dental Implant Failure? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin. Implant Dent. Relat. Res.* 2016, 18, 410–420. [CrossRef]
- 42. Chranovic, B.R.; Kisch, J.; Albrektsson, T.; Wennerberg, A. Bruxism and dental implant treatment complications: A retrospective comparative study of 98 bruxer patients and a matched group. *Clin. Oral Implants Res.* **2017**, *28*, e1–e9. [CrossRef]
- Glauser, R.; Rée, A.; Lundgren, A.; Gottlow, J.; Hammerle, C.H.; Scharer, P. Immediate occlusal loading of Brånemark implants applied in various jawbone regions: A prospective, 1-year clinical study. *Clin. Implant Dent. Relat. Res.* 2001, 3, 204–213. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mohanty, R.; Sudan, P.S.; Dharamsi, A.M.; Mokashi, R.; Misurya, A.L.; Kaushal, P. Risk Assessment in Long-term Survival Rates of Dental Implants: A Prospective Clinical Study. J. Contemp. Dent. Pract. 2018, 19, 587–590. [PubMed]
- Herzberg, R.; Dolev, E.; Schwartz-Arad, D. Implant marginal bone loss in maxillary sinus grafts. *Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Implant.* 2006, 21, 103–110.
- Maló, P.S.; Nobre, M.D.A.; Ferro, A.S.; Parreira, G.G. Five-year outcome of a retrospective cohort study comparing smokers vs. nonsmokers with full-arch mandibular implant-supported rehabilitation using the All-on-4 concept. *J. Oral Sci.* 2018, 60, 177–186. [CrossRef] [PubMed]